## Driving Under the Influence of Non-Alcohol Drugs — An Update Part I: Epidemiological Studies

#### H. Gjerde\*, M. C. Strand, J. Mørland

Division of Forensic Sciences Norwegian Institute of Public Health Oslo Norway

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	INTRODUCTION	90
I.	METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES	90
	A. Challenges and Difficulties	90
	B. Cross-Sectional Studies	92
	C. Cohort and Population Studies	92
	D. Case-Control Studies	92
	E. Responsibility and Case-Crossover Studies	96
II.	RESULTS	99
	A. Study Quality	99
	B. Road Traffic Crash (RTC) Risk Associated with Drug Use	100
III.	DISCUSSION	107
	A. Benzodiazepines and z-Hypnotics	107
	B. Cannabis	107
	C. Opioids	107
	D. Stimulants	107
	E. Antidepressants	108
	F. Other Drugs	108
	G. Multiple Drug Use	108
	CONCLUSIONS	108
	REFERENCES	109
	ABOUT THE AUTHORS	113

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: Dr. Hallvard Gjerde, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, P. O. Box 4404 Nydalen, NO-0403 Oslo Norway; + 47 21077953 (voice); <u>Hallvard.Gjerde@fhi.no</u>.

## Driving Under the Influence of Non-Alcohol Drugs – An Update Part I: Epidemiological Studies

**REFERENCE:** Gjerde H, Strand MC, Mørland J: Driving under the influence of non-alcohol drugs — An update. Part I: Epidemiological studies; *Forensic Sci Rev* 27:89; 2015.

**ABSTRACT:** Epidemiological studies of the association between drug use and involvement in road traffic crashes (RTCs) published from January 1998 to February 2015 have been reviewed. Cohort and population studies compared RTC involvement among drug users and non-drug users, case-control studies compared drug use among RTC-involved and non–RTC-involved drivers, and responsibility studies and case-crossover studies were performed for RTC-involved drivers. Difficulties associated with the types of studies are discussed with a special focus on case-control studies. Statistically significant associations between drug use and RTC involvement were found for benzodiazepines and z-hypnotics in 25 out of 28 studies, for cannabis in 23 out of 36 studies, for opioids in 17 out of 25 studies, for amphetamines in 8 out of 10 studies, for cocaine in 5 out of 9 studies, and for antidepressants in 9 out of 13 studies. It was a general trend among studies that did not report significant associations between the use of these drugs and increased RTC risk that they often had either poor statistical power or poor study design compared to studies that found an association. Simultaneous use of two or more psychoactive drugs was associated with higher RTC risk. Studies on the combination of alcohol and drugs have not been reviewed in this article even though this combination is known to be associated with the highest RTC risk.

**KEYWORDS:** Amphetamines, antidepressants, benzodiazepines, cannabis, cocaine, drugged driving, DUID, epidemiology, hypnotics, opioids, road traffic crashes (RTCs).

#### INTRODUCTION

A review article on the effect of drug use on road traffic safety was published in this journal in 2000 [90]. The article included experimental and epidemiological studies published before 1998 for the following drug groups: benzodiazepines and related drugs, cannabis, opioids, amphetamine and related drugs, antihistamines, and antidepressants. Many investigations have been performed since then. In this article, epidemiological studies on drugs and traffic safety published after 1998 are reviewed. An update of experimental studies will be published in a forthcoming issue of this journal together with a summary of the combined knowledge from epidemiological and experimental studies.

Experimental studies can be used to determine whether a drug may impair driving-related functions and are most commonly performed for medicinal drugs using healthy individuals taking relatively small drug doses. In many countries it is impossible to perform experimental studies of illicit drugs in humans for ethical reasons. In countries where such studies are allowed, the doses given and drug exposure times are often lower than those used by problematic drug users and may therefore not reflect the actual risks in road traffic.

The resulting effects of drug use on traffic safety are a function of the degree to which the drugs are used, the levels and manners in which they are used, and the populations that are using them [86]. Therefore, epidemiological studies

are needed to determine the actual consequences of drug use on road traffic safety.

An important advantage with epidemiological studies is that they may be used to determine the impact of drug use in the general population of drivers, which includes users of illicit drugs, patients taking medicinal drugs for treatment of illness or relief from symptoms, and drivers using the same type of drugs for recreational purposes or because of drug addiction. In the latter case, the taken dose may be substantially higher than doses taken by patients for therapeutic purposes. Medicinal drugs that are used for the treatment of severe pain, anxiety, insomnia, narcolepsy, or hyperactivity are among those most frequently used for nontherapeutic purposes.

This review is primarily based on articles found by searching the major scientific literature databases. We have only included studies published in English.

#### I. METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES

#### A. Challenges and Difficulties

There are four main types of epidemiological studies on the incidence and consequences of drug-impaired driving in various driving populations, primarily those involved in road traffic crashes (RTCs): (a) cross-sectional, descriptive studies on the prevalence of drug use; (b) cohort and population studies on RTC involvement among drug users compared to non-drug users; (c) case-control studies comparing drug use among RTC-involved and non–RTCinvolved drivers; and (d) studies on RTC-involved drivers only, such as responsibility studies and case-crossover studies. Results from cross-sectional studies may be used to propose hypotheses on RTC risk related to the use of individual medicinal or illicit drugs, whereas cohort studies, case-control studies, responsibility studies, and case-crossover studies are analytical studies that may be used to estimate the actual RTC risks associated with the use of individual drugs.

A general difficulty in all types of epidemiological studies of RTCs is a possible selection bias in the inclusion of RTC-involved drivers. It is only possible to include drivers involved in RTCs that are recorded in databases or registries, self-reported RTC-involved drivers, injured drivers receiving treatment, drivers involved in RTCs that are subject to blood sampling for toxicological testing, or fatally injured drivers subject to legal autopsy. If including a control population, a selection bias may occur as well.

Knowledge about alcohol and drug use may be incomplete for both those involved in accidents and for a control population of drivers who are not crash-involved. If data is based on self-reports, underreporting might be a significant problem [1,37,54,89,113]. If basing the study on drug testing of biological samples, only cases where sampling is performed are included, and a limited number of psychoactive substances are looked for in most studies. Thus, the use of some drugs or drug combinations that can affect the results may not be detected.

If information is obtained from prescription registries, the data just tells us that the medicinal drug has been dispensed at a pharmacy, not that it is actually taken and if so, taken in recommended doses. Another difficulty is related to the fact that the patient has received the prescription for a medicinal drug due to illness or disease, which itself may affect the RTC risk. In fact, the patient might be a more dangerous driver in some cases of nonmedicated disease than when medication is taken. In studies using data from prescription registries, the use of alcohol and illicit drugs is not taken into consideration, as well as nonrecorded use of medicinal drugs.

RTC involvement does not mean responsibility. In RTCs between a drug-impaired driver and a sober driver, the driver who is injured and therefore included in the study as RTC-involved might not be the one who was responsible for the RTC. This will cause a "dilution" of the calculated RTC risk, as previously described for alcohol in case-control studies [45]. Studies of only responsible drivers would eliminate this error. In some studies, drivers injured or killed in single-vehicle RTCs are investigated separately because they are almost always responsible in such cases. A low participation rate may give a significant sampling bias. The refusal rate may be related to study design and/ or to cultural issues. It might be suggested that a large proportion of those who voluntarily participate in studies are conscientious individuals without significant social or behavioral problems, whereas some of those who refuse to participate might be careless or might not want to reveal any less acceptable behavior.

Covariates (confounding or interacting variables) that are usually included in matching cases and controls or in data analysis are: age, gender, time of day/ week, and geographical region. Some other possibly important covariates are: driving experience, personality characteristics, state of physical and mental health, sleep deprivation, state of alertness, exhaustion, distractions, use of caffeine, hunger, thirst, socioeconomic factors, driving alone or with passengers, speed limit, weather conditions, visibility, traffic density, the condition of the road, and the condition of the motor vehicle.

Covariates related to personality are often not included. If cases and controls are different in relation to impulsivity, sensation-seeking and risk-taking behavior, the calculated risk for RTC involvement will not reflect the risk posed by the drug alone, but a combination of substance use with personality factors. A particular problem is the association between the use of illicit drugs and risk-taking personality [10,14,33,65,119], which in itself may be associated with high RTC risk also in the absence of drug use. In addition, risk-taking behavior might again be increased after using some types of drugs.

It is often difficult to relate any increased RTC risk to drug doses or blood drug concentrations in epidemiological studies due to lack of statistical power; therefore, assessments are in most studies performed using dichotomous data (drug used: yes/no).

It is important to remember that epidemiological studies cannot be used to prove causality; the studies can merely be used to document an association between drug use and involvement in RTCs. Any observed association may also, at least partly, be related to confounding factors that are not controlled for.

Guidelines for research on drugged driving were published in 2008 [118]. They include recommendations for roadside surveys, studies of drivers injured in RTCs (hospital studies), fatal RTC studies, and the collection and analysis of biological samples. Similar recommendations for cohort studies or research using registries or selfreported data have, to our knowledge, not been published. However, general guidelines on observational studies in epidemiology have been developed [116].

More challenges and difficulties that are specific for different study types are discussed in sections C-E.

#### **B.** Cross-Sectional Studies

The use of drugs by drivers who are involved in RTCs is investigated in descriptive cross-sectional studies. After alcohol, the most frequently found drugs are cannabis, benzodiazepines, stimulants, and opioids [30,51,72,73,91,105]. Combinations of alcohol and drugs or multiple drugs are also commonly found. We have not reviewed cross-sectional studies in this article.

#### C. Cohort and Population Studies

RTC involvement among drivers who are using a specified drug may be compared with RTC involvement among drivers who are not using the drug. The use of medicinal drugs can be studied by using data from prescription registries, and data on RTC involvement or injury may be obtained from accident registries or health databases. The date for dispensing from a pharmacy is regarded as the starting date for drug use. RTCs during the first 7 or 14 days after dispensing date are often measured and compared with RTCs among drivers who have not purchased the same type of drug. The drug-using driver may be his own control; the number of RTCs during periods of drug use is then compared with RTCs during periods without using the drug in question. This type of study is called "case-crossover study" and is discussed in section E.

The selection of the drivers in the drug-exposed and non-drug-exposed cohorts is independent of any RTC involvement; this is in contrast to case-control studies, where RTC-involved drivers are selected as cases, as well as in responsibility studies, where only RTC-involved drivers are studied.

Studies of the association between self-reported use of medication or illicit drugs and RTCs are also performed. In those surveys, participants are selected by random within geographical areas and sometimes within specified age groups by using population registries of different types, such as driver license, health, social insurance, or resident registries. Information is gathered by using questionnaires or telephone interviews. The frequency of drug use is recorded as well as involvements in RTCs under the influence of the drug in question and RTCs when not using the substance in question. A list of cohort and population studies published after 1998 is presented in **Table 1**.

#### **D.** Case-Control Studies

Case-control studies are in general used to study the association between a defined exposure and an outcome of active exposure and are sometimes regarded as the optimal methodological approach for studying the RTC risk when driving after using alcohol or drugs [11,62]. This statement might be questionable due to a number of difficulties, which we have discussed quite extensively below. However, there is no doubt that a well-performed case-control study of drug use and RTC involvement provides important information on the association between drugs and RTC risks among drivers in actual road traffic.

*Cases* are drivers involved in RTCs. They may be selected from police records, insurance records, hospital records, postmortem autopsy records, other databases or registries on RTC-involved drivers, or by self-reported RTC involvement.

*Controls* are drivers who are not involved in RTCs and may be selected from random traffic, from driver's-license databases, or by self-reported noninvolvement in RTCs.

The exposure to drugs may be determined in different ways: by analyzing drugs in biological samples (blood, oral fluid, urine, or sweat), by self-reporting, or by using data from prescription registries.

If using biological samples, blood or oral fluid may be used to study real-time drug exposure (i.e., at the time of sample collection), whereas samples of sweat or urine may be used to detect drug use once or more during the last days or weeks, to study drug-using drivers (i.e., not only drug exposure at the time of sample collection).

Normally, the odds ratios (ORs) for involvement in RTCs are calculated in case-control studies using logistic regression analysis. The reference group in the regression analysis may either be (a) drivers who have not used alcohol or any psychoactive drugs before driving; or (b) drivers who have not used the substance in question (but they may have used alcohol or other drugs). Those two calculation options give different ORs.

Most often the OR is calculated for single drug use (i.e., not combined with alcohol or other drugs), but sometimes the OR is calculated for any use of that particular drug (either alone or in combination with alcohol or drugs). Previous studies have shown that those calculation methods may give very different ORs [46,48]. The chosen method is in some studies not properly described.

An important requirement for case-control studies is that cases and controls must be selected by random from the same population; i.e., controls should be selected in an unbiased manner from those individuals who would have been included in the case series, had they been involved in an RTC [85]. To enable this, cases and controls should be matched regarding important covariates, or more commonly, covariates should be included in the data analysis. It is very difficult to control for all significant factors. Therefore, the outcome of case-control studies

Authors, year country, ref.	Methodology	Population size, survey, or cohort	Data source <sup>a</sup>	Substances assessed <sup>b</sup>	<b>Covariates</b> <sup>c</sup>
Asbridge et al. 2005, Canada [3]	Student survey	6,087 senior students	Questionnaire or interview	can <sup>d</sup>	edu, exp, fak, sex urb
Bachs et al., 2009 Norway [5]	Population study	3.1 million age 18–70	Prescription and RTC DB	$cod^d$ , tra	age, sex
Bramness et al. 2007, Norway [20]	Population study	3.1 million age 18–69	Prescription and RTC DB	car <sup>d</sup> , dia <sup>d</sup> sal	_
Bramness et al. 2008, Norway [22]	Population study	3.1 million age 18–70	Prescription and RTC DB	and <sup><math>d</math></sup>	_
Bramness et al. 2009, Norway [21]	Population study	3.1 million age 18–70	Prescription and RTC DB	lit, val	age, sex
Bramness et al. 2012, Norway [19]	Population study	3.1 million age 18–70	Prescription and RTC DB	met <sup>e</sup>	age, sex
Engeland et al. 2007, Norway [35]	Population study	3.1 million age 18–69	Prescription and RTC DB	ben <sup>d</sup> , bet cra, nsa <sup>d</sup> opi <sup>d</sup> , pen <sup>e</sup>	age, sea, sex
Fergusson & Horwood 2001, New Zealand [38]	Birth cohort study	907, age 18–21	Questionnaire or interview	can <sup>d</sup>	age, att, beh, ddb exp, sex
Fergusson et al., 2008 New Zealand [39]	Birth cohort study	936, age 18–21	Questionnaire or interview	can	beh, dui, exp
Gerberich et al., 2003 US [43]	Healthcare cohort study	64,657	Questionnaire or interview	can <sup>e</sup>	age, bmi, dis, dri edu, eth, mar, smo
Gustavsen et al. 2008, Norway [52]	Population study	3.1 million age 18–69	Prescription and RTC DB	$hyp^d$	age, sex
Lai et al., 2014 Taiwan [69]	Exposed and non- exposed cohorts	Exposed: 8,188 non-exp.: 32,752	Health insurance DB	$zol^d$	age, dis, dru, sex
Mann et al., 2007 Canada [79]	Population survey	2,676	Questionnaire or interview	$\operatorname{can}^d$	age, edu, inc, mar sex
Mann et al., 2010 Canada [80]	Population survey	8,481	Questionnaire or interview	$\operatorname{can}^d$	age, dri, edu, exp inc, mar, sex
Neutel, 1998 Canada [92]	Population study	1 million	Prescription, health insurance and hospital DB	ben <sup>d</sup>	age, alc, dru, sex
Pulido et al., 2011 Spain [99]	Population survey	17,484	Questionnaire or interview	$can^d$ , $coc^d$	age, alc, dru, edu eth, occ, exp, sex
Skurtveit et al., 2012 Norway [110]	Population study	3.1 million age 18–69	Prescription and RTC DB	adb <sup>e</sup>	age, sex
Stoduto et al., 2012 Canada [112]	Population survey	8,107	Questionnaire or interview	$\cos^d$	age, dui, exp, inc sex
Wadsworth et al. 2006, UK [117]	Population survey	4,754	Questionnaire or interview	$\operatorname{can}^d$	age, dis, dri, edu inc, occ, per, sex smo

Table 1. Cohort and	population studies of road traffic crash (	RTC) involvement among dr	ug users and non-drug users

<sup>*a*</sup> Abbreviations for data sources: DB = database or registry.

<sup>b</sup> Abbreviations for substances: adb = antidiabetics; and = antidepressants; ben = benzodiazepines; bet = beta blockers; can = cannabis; car = carisoprodol; coc = cocaine; cod = codeine; cra = calcium receptor antagonists; dia = diazepam; hyp = hypnotics; lit = litium; met = methadone; nsa = non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; opi = opioids; pen = pencillins; sal = salbutamol; tra = tramadol; val = valproate; zol = zolpidem.

<sup>c</sup> Abbreviations for covariates: age = age of driver; alc = alcohol used; att = attitudes to risky driving; beh = driving behavior; bmi = body mass index; ddb = drink driving behavior; dis = disease or health status; dri = drinking habits; dui = previous driving under the influence; dru = drug(s) used; edu = education grade; eth = ethnicity; exp = driver experience or milage; fak = used fake ID to get alcohol; inc = income; mar = marital status; occ = occupational status; per = personality; sea = season of the year; smo = smoking; urb: urbanity.

<sup>d</sup> Statistically significant association between drug use and RTC was reported.

<sup>e</sup> Statistically significant association was reported for some groups of drivers.

in addition to physical and mental health. Long-term drug abuse may also cause somatic and mental changes that may increase the RTC risk. Case-crossover studies (see section E) may be used to overcome this problem, at least partly, because important covariates such as age, gender, and behavioral and personality factors are the same.

If using biological samples, blood samples should ideally be collected from both cases and controls because blood samples reflect recent intake and exposure to drugs. Blood samples should be taken from cases immediately after RTCs to eliminate concentration changes due to metabolism or postmortem redistribution [40,53,104]. Blood samples are the best type of biological matrix for drug analysis that can be used for evaluation of RTC risk related to the drug concentration, which is expected to reflect the drug concentration in the central nervous system and therefore most likely the degree of drug influence.

The controls are drivers who are not involved in RTCs and who have the option of refusing to participate. Some drivers may refuse because of fear of detection and prosecution, whereas others may refuse because of the invasiveness or intrusiveness of the sampling or because they do not want to spend the amount of time required. The refusal rate is often particularly high when collecting blood samples; in recent roadside surveys of alcohol, drugs, and driving, the refusal rate was 24% in Lithuania; it was 52% when collecting blood or oral fluid in Belgium, and 25% refused to give a blood sample but 20% were willing to give a sample of oral fluid instead of blood in the Netherlands [60]. In American roadside surveys, 50–60% refused to give blood samples [67,68].

Oral fluid has sometimes been collected from controls in case-control studies because it reflects drug presence in blood [109,115]. When collecting oral fluid, the refusal rate was less than 10% in roadside surveys in Denmark, Norway, Poland, Portugal, and Spain; however, it was higher in Sweden, Finland, the Czech Republic, and Hungary [60]. The refusal rates were about 20–30% in North American roadside surveys [8,64,68]. It has thus been possible to obtain high participation rates if collecting oral fluid when using a good study design. However, other factors, such as cultural issues, may also have affected the participation rate.

Because of different drug concentration in oral fluid and blood, it can be difficult to compare the prevalence of drugs. However, the prevalence of a drug in paired samples of oral fluid and blood from the same cohort are equal if using equivalent (not equal) cutoff concentrations [47,49], then the average drug detection time in oral fluid will be the same as in blood. Equivalent cutoff concentrations for oral fluid and blood have been used in a few previous studies [12,46,48,57]. If equivalent cutoff concentrations are not used, the OR for RTC involvement will either be overestimated or underestimated, depending on differences in drug detection times in oral fluid and blood after intake of a single drug dose. Drug concentrations in oral fluid cannot be used to accurately estimate concentrations in blood because of large inter- and intraindividual variations in drug-concentration ratios between oral fluid and blood [70,120].

Some studies have compared results for blood samples from cases with urine samples from controls or used a mixture of data from blood and urine samples [34,87,121]. That type of case-control design makes interpretation of results difficult, because a drug finding in urine does not indicate active drug exposure while driving. Urine samples may be positive for a drug and/or metabolites for a number of days longer than a blood sample, with very large variation between individuals, and it is therefore impossible to define equivalent cutoff concentrations in blood and urine, and the calculated OR for RTC involvement may be very much underestimated. If using urine samples, urine should be collected from all cases and all controls. This type of study will determine any association between drug users and RTCs and not between active drug exposure and RTCs.

Biological samples should be analyzed for a broad range of psychoactive substances. Multidrug use and combinations of alcohol and drugs is commonly observed among drivers injured or killed in RTCs [72,73,105] because it may increase impairment and thus also the RTC risk. If only analyzing for a small number of substances, multidrug use may not be detected and the calculated ORs may be incorrectly high, while risks related to drugs that are not analyzed will not be detected at all.

Some studies have compared results for blood samples from cases with self-reported drug use among controls [15,55]. It is well known that underreporting of drug use is common and it may vary for different drugs and between different cohorts or cultures [1,37,54,89,113]. However, results of studies of this type may be used to propose hypotheses on increased RTC risk after using certain drugs.

Houwing et al. recently discussed several random and systematic errors that may occur in case-control studies, such as sample size, low cell counts, geographical bias, sampling method, inclusion criteria, refusals, distributions of age and gender, time lapse between accident or apprehension and sample collection, analytical methods, and confounding factors [61]. It is practically impossible to fulfill the requirements for optimal case-control studies of drugs and RTCs. It is easy to handle some confounding factors, such as age, gender, time of day, day of week, and type of road or crash site, but more difficult to handle selection bias, low participation rate, and lack of control of important confounding factors. The calculated OR for involvement in an RTC will not only be related to risks posed by the substance *per se*, but very much affected by the study design, participation rate, confounding factors that are not adjusted for during matching or data analysis, and often an uncertainty introduced because of using different biological fluids from cases and controls. Lists of case-control studies published in English after 1998 are presented in **Tables 2** and **3**.

Table 2. Case-control studies using	biological samples	(cases were killed or injured in RTCs, controls were not involved in RTCs)

Authors, year country, ref.		rticipation ate (%) <sup>a</sup>	Controls	Participation rate (%) <sup>a</sup>		Cutoffs <sup>c</sup>	Substances analyzed <sup>d</sup>	Substances assessed <sup>d</sup> C	ovariates <sup>e</sup>
Assum et al. 2005, Norway [4]	87 killed or injured car/van/ minibus drivers	Unk.	410 drivers in normal traffic	87	Alcohol: B or BR Drugs: B (cases) OF (controls)	No	alc, amp, ben, can coc, ecs, opi	amp <sup>f</sup> , ben <sup>f</sup> , can mul <sup>f</sup> , opi	
Beirness et al. 2013, Canada [9]	902 fatally injured drivers	Unk.	4,711 drivers in normal traffic	68.4	Alcohol: B or BR Drugs: B (cases) OF (controls)	No	alc, amp, ben, can opi	can <sup>f</sup>	
Bogstrand et al. 2012, Norway [17]	96 injured car/ van drivers	93	5,305 drivers in normal traffic	93.8	Cases: B Controls: OF	Yes	alc, amp, ben, can coc, ecs, opi, zhy	mul	age, sex tim
Bogstrand & Gjerde 2014, Norway [16]	2,738 drivers arrested for DUI (BAC <0.2 g/L) (794 RTC- involved)	Unk.	9,375 drivers in normal traffic wi BAC <0.2 g/L	94 ith	Cases: B Controls: OF	Yes	alc, amp, ben, can coc, ecs, opi, zhy	amp <sup>g</sup> , ben <sup>g</sup> , can <sup>g</sup> coc <sup>g</sup> , ecs <sup>g</sup> , mul <sup>g</sup> opi <sup>g</sup> , zop <sup>g</sup>	age, geo sea, sex tim
Brault et al., 2004 Canada [23]	512 killed drivers passenger cars	38.3	5,931 drivers in normal traffic	49.6	Alcohol: B or BR Drugs: U	Yes	alc, amp, bar, ben can, coc, opi, pcp opi, pcp	amp <sup>f</sup> , bar, ben <sup>f</sup> can <sup>f</sup> , coc <sup>f</sup> , opi <sup>f</sup> pcp <sup>f</sup>	age, sex tim
Compton & Berning 2015, US [25]	3,095 drivers involved in RTC	79.6	6,190 drivers in normal traffic	83.7	OF	Yes	alc, and, can, opi sed, sti	and, can <sup>f</sup> , opi sed <sup>f</sup> , sti	age, geo sea, sex tim
Gjerde et al., 2011 Norway [48]	204 killed car/ van drivers	61	10,540 drivers in normal traffic	n 88	Cases: B Controls: OF	Yes	alc, amp, ben, can car, coc, ecs, opi zhy	amp <sup>f</sup> , ben, can can, mul <sup>f</sup> , zop	age, sea sex, tim
Gjerde et al., 2013 Norway [46]	508 killed car/ van drivers	61	9,210 drivers in normal traffic	94	Cases: B Controls: OF	Yes	alc, amp, ben, can coc, ecs, opi, zhy	amp <sup>f</sup> , ben <sup>f</sup> , can mul <sup>f</sup> , zop	age, geo sea, sex tim, urb
Hels et al., 2011 [56] Bernhoft et al. 2012 [12] Europe (4 countries)	1,112 killed car/van drivers	FI 94.3 NO 59 PT 79 SE 94	21,917 drivers in normal traffic	FI 52 NO 94 PT 97 SE 62	Alcohol: B or BR Drugs: B (cases) OF (controls)	Yes	alc, amp, ben, can coc, ecs, opi, zhy	amp <sup>f</sup> , ben/ zhy <sup>f</sup> can, coc <sup>f</sup> , mul <sup>f</sup> opi <sup>f</sup>	age, geo sex
Hels et al., 2011 [56] Hels et al., 2013 [57] Bernhoft et al., 2012 [12] Europe (6 countries)	2,490 injured car/van drivers	BE 94.6 DK 95 FI 91.5 IT 100 LT 100 NL unk.	15,832 drivers in normal traffic	BE 48 DK 95 FI 52 IT 100 LT 76 NL 95	Alcohol: B or BR Drugs: B (cases) B or OF (controls)	Yes	alc, amp, ben, can coc, ecs, opi, zhy	amp <sup>f</sup> , ben/zhy <sup>f</sup> can <sup>f</sup> , coc, mul <sup>f</sup> opi <sup>f</sup>	age, geo sex
Hou et al., 2012 Taiwan [59]	254 injured drivers	93	254	76	Alcohol: B or BR Drugs: B or U	No	alc, amp, and, bar ben, can, coc, opi pcp	and, bar, ben <sup>f</sup>	age, geo mar, sex tim
Kuypers et al., 2012 Belgium [66]	337 injured car/van drivers	27.0	2,726 drivers in normal traffic	44.8	Alcohol: BR Drugs: B	Yes	alc, amp, ben, can coc, ecs, opi, zhy	amp <sup>f</sup> , ben, can <sup>f</sup> coc, mul <sup>f</sup> , opi zhy <sup>f</sup>	age, sex tim
Li et al., 2013 US [74]	737 killed drivers	35.6	7,719 drivers in normal traffic	70.7	Alcohol: B or BR Drugs: B or U (case OF (controls)	No s)	alc, amp, and, anh ben, can, car, coc ecs, ket, opi, pcp zhy	can <sup>f</sup> , opi <sup>f</sup> , mul <sup>f</sup> sti <sup>f</sup>	age, geo sex, tim
Marquet et al., 1998 France [81]	296 age 18–35 injured drivers	Unk.	278 age 18–35 other patients	Unk.	Cases: U Controls: U	Yes	amp, can, coc, ecs opi	can <sup>h</sup> , opi	age, geo sex

Gjerde, Strand & Mørland • Driving Under the Influence of Drugs - Epidemiological Studies

#### Table 2. (Continued)

Authors, year country, ref.	Cases	Participation rate (%) <sup>a</sup>	Controls	Participation rate (%) <sup>a</sup>		Cutoffs <sup>c</sup>	Substances analyzed <sup>d</sup>	Substances assessed <sup>d</sup>	Covariates <sup>e</sup>
Mathijssen & Houwing 2005, Netherlands [82]	184 injured drivers	88.9	3,374 drivers in normal traffic	n 87.6	Alcohol: B or BR Drugs: B (cases) B, U or Q (controls)	No	alc, amp, and ben, can, coc opi	ben <sup>f</sup> , can cod, mor <sup>f</sup> mul <sup>f</sup>	
Movig et al., 2004 Netherlands [87]	110 injured drivers	Unk.	816 drivers in normal traffic	79.3	Alcohol: B or BR Drugs: B or U	No	alc, amp, and bar, ben, opi	amp, ben <sup>f</sup> can, coc mul <sup>f</sup> , opi	age, sea sex, tim
Mura et al., 2003 France [88]	900 injured drivers	96	900 non-traum patients	a 96	B and either U or SW	Yes	alc, amp, and bar, ben, can coc, opi	ben <sup>f</sup> , can <sup>f</sup> mor <sup>f</sup>	age, sex
Perttula et al., 2014 Finland [97]	427 killed drivers	Unk.	687 drivers at petrol station	63.4	Cases: B Controls: B, Q	Yes	anh	anh	age
Romano et al., 2014 US [106]	1,766 killed drivers	Unk.	3,424 drivers in normal traffic	n 71	Alcohol: B or BR Drugs: B or U (cases) OF (controls)	No )	alc, amp, and anh, ben, can car, coc, ecs ket, opi, pcp zhy	can <sup>f</sup> , opi sti <sup>f</sup>	age, eth sex
Woratanarat et al., 2009 Thailand [121]	200 injured drivers	Unk.	849 drivers at petrol station	Unk.	Alcohol: B or BR Drug: U, Q	Yes	alc, amp, and ane, anh, bar ben, can, coc mit, mus, opi	amp <sup><i>f</i></sup> , and anh, can mor <sup><i>f</i></sup> , mul	

<sup>a</sup> Abbreviations for countries: FI = Finland; NO = Norway; PT = Portugal; SE = Sweden; BE = Belgium; DK = Denmark; IT = Italy; LT = Lithuania; NL = The Netherlands.

<sup>b</sup> Abbreviations for samples: B = blood; BR = breath; OF = oral fluid; Q = questionnaire or interview; SW = sweat; U = urine.

<sup>c</sup> Equivalent cutoff for samples and controls.

<sup>d</sup> Abbreviations for substances: alc = alcohol; amp = amphetamines; and = antidepressants; ane = antiepileptics; anh = antihistamines; bar = barbiturates; ben = benzodiazepines; can = cannabinoids; car = carisoprodol; cod = codeine; coc = cocaine/metabolites; ecs = ecstacy (MDMA); ket = ketamine; mit = mitragynine; mor = morphine/heroin; mul = multiple drug use; mus = muscle relaxants; opi = opioids; sed = sedatives; sti = stimulants; zhy = z-hypnotics (zolpidem, zopiclone); zop = zopiclone.

<sup>e</sup> Abbreviations for covariates: age = age of driver; eth = ethnicity; geo = geographical area; mar = marital status; sea = season of the year; tim = time of day or week; urb = urbanity.

<sup>*f*</sup> Statistically significant association between drug use and RTC was reported.

<sup>g</sup> Calculated ORs were not relative to sober drivers; ranks between ORs for arrest after using single or multiple drugs were calculated.

<sup>h</sup> Statistically significant association was reported for some groups of drivers.

#### E. Responsibility and Case-Crossover Studies

Responsibility studies are case-case studies performed without any non-RTC control group. Judgments about responsibility for causing the RTC are made by examining the circumstances leading up to the RTC without having information about alcohol or drug use by the drivers, who are classified according to their degree of responsibility for the RTC. Then drug use is compared for each category, and ORs for RTC responsibility are calculated for drug users. Blood samples should be used for all categories of RTC responsibility and the samples should be taken immediately after the RTC. The second-best alternative is to collect samples of oral fluid. If collecting urine samples, drug intake during the last days or weeks is detected, not only active drug exposure at the time of the RTC. Some responsibility studies are using self-reported use of drugs, which may introduce difficulties due to underreporting of drug intake, incorrect categorization of active drug exposure, or incorrect reporting of RTCs and RTC responsibilities.

As with case-control studies, a large number of psychoactive substances should be included in the analysis of blood samples to eliminate cases with additive effects due to multidrug use or combinations of alcohol or drugs. Ideally, drug concentrations in blood at the time of the RTC should be included in data analysis. However, this is difficult because of few cases within each relevant drugconcentration interval.

The judgment of responsibility, including any police judgments, may easily be biased, for example by suspicion or knowledge about current or previous alcohol or drug use, previous RTC involvement, traffic violations, or criminal records. It is therefore important that this judgment is done in accordance with predefined criteria [28,103,108].

A potential difficulty is that RTC-involved drivers who are judged to have little or no responsibility for the RTC might not represent randomly selected drivers because they fail to avoid an RTC. This may be related to differences in significant confounding factors regarding personality, sleep deprivation, alertness, health, alcohol or drug use, etc., and may introduce an error in risk estimates.

Authors, year Country, ref.	No. of cases crash outcome	Participat rate (%)		rticipat ate (%)		Substances assessed <sup>c</sup>	<b>Covariates</b> <sup>d</sup>
Blows et al., 2005 New Zealand [15]	571 involved in injurious or fatal RTC	92.8	588 random	78.8	Alcohol: B or BR Cannabis: Q	can <sup>e</sup>	age, alc, bel edu, eth, exp pas, sex, spe tim, veh
Chang et al., 2012 Taiwan [24]	5,183 injured	n/a	31,093 matched by age, sex, year	n/a	National health inst research DB	and <sup>f</sup> , anp ben <sup>f</sup> , zhy <sup>f</sup>	com, nop psy, urb
Delaney et al. 2005, Canada [27]	5,579 age 67–84 involved in injurious RTC	n/a	12,911 age 67–84 not involved in injurious RTC	n/a	Driver ins. & health ins. DB	war	age, dis, dru rec, sex, urb
Etminan et al. 2004, Canada [36]	5,579 age 67–84 involved in injurious RTC	n/a	13,300 age 67–84 drivers	n/a	Automobile & health ins. DB	lit <sup>f</sup> , caa	age, dru, exp geo, rec, sex
Gomes et al., 2013 Canada [50]	5,300 injured	n/a	5,300 matched	n/a	Prescription & health DB	opi <sup>f</sup>	age, dru, pat ppv, sex
Hemmelgarn et al. 2006, Canada [58]	5,579 age 67–84 involved in injurious RTC	n/a	13,300 age 67–84	n/a	Car ins. & health DB	adb <sup>f</sup>	age, geo, ins rec, sex
Johnell et al., 2014 Sweden [63]	30,845 age 50–80 involved non-alcohol injurious RTC	in n/a	123,380 matched by age, sex, geo	n/a	Prescription & RTC DB	ben <sup>f</sup>	alc, age, dru mar, occ, sex
McGwin et al. 2000, US [83]	447 age 65+ involved in RT	C 79.8	454 matched by age, sex	74.1	Q	ace <sup><i>f</i></sup> , adb, anc <sup><i>f</i></sup> and, bet, ben nsa <sup><i>f</i></sup>	age, eth, exp sex
Ravera et al., 2011 Netherlands [101]	3,963 injured	n/a	18,828 matched	n/a	Prescription & RTC DB	and <sup>f</sup> , anp, anx <sup>f</sup> hyp <sup>f</sup> , sed	dru

Table 3. Case-control studies using questionnaires or registries (cases were drivers injured or involved in RTCs)

<sup>*a*</sup> n/a = not applicable or not known.

<sup>b</sup> Abbreviations for data sources: B = blood; BR = breath; DB = database or registry; Q = questionnaire or interview.

<sup>c</sup> Abbreviations for substances: ace = angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors; adb = antidiabetics; anc = anticoagulants; and = antidepressants; anp = antipsychotics; anx = anxiolytics; ben = benzodiazepines; bet = beta blockers; caa = carbamazepine; can = cannabinoids; hyp = hypnotics; lit = litium; nsa = non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; opi = opioids; sed = sedatives; war = warfarin; zhy = z-hypnotics (zolpidem, zopiclone).

<sup>d</sup> Abbreviations for covariates: age = age of driver; alc = alcohol used; bel = seatbelt use; com = comorbidity score; dis = disease or health status; dru = drug(s) used; edu = education grade; eth = ethnicity; exp = driver experience or milage; geo = geographical area; ins = insulin use; mar = marital status; nop = non-psychiatric outpatient visits; occ = occupational status; pas = passengers in car; pat = previous alcoholism treatment; ppv = previous physician visits; psy = psychiatric outpatient visits; rec = previous driving records; spe = speed; tim = time of day or week; urb: urbanity; veh = vehicle age.

<sup>e</sup> Statistically significant association was reported for some groups of drivers.

<sup>f</sup> Statistically significant association between drug use and RTC was reported.

Another problem is the inclusion of drivers involved in single-vehicle RTCs, who are virtually all responsible for their RTCs. It may not be relevant to compare those drivers with nonresponsible drivers, who are almost exclusively included in multiple-vehicle RTCs.

A review of previous responsibility studies and difficulties and faults has recently been published [108]. Difficulties were often related to selection procedures, the definition of responsibility, the use of undocumented factors when assessing responsibility, lack of blinded exposure assessment, varying or missing data on the proportion of responsible drivers, and lacking discussion of confounding and mitigating factors. Case-crossover studies are comparing the number of RTCs for each individual during periods of drug use with periods without drug use. Each person in the study is both a case and his own self-matched control. This study design eliminates the need for matching cases and controls regarding a number of confounding factors that may affect the RTC risk. Periods of drug exposure may be based on either self-reported use or data recorded in prescription registries, whereas data on RTCs may be based on selfreports or RTC registries. An important difficulty with this study design is that nontreated illness during periods with no drug use may bias the risk calculations.

A list of responsibility and case-crossover studies published in English after 1998 is presented in **Table 4**.

### Table 4. Studies of only RTC-involved drivers

Authors, year country, ref.	Methodology	Drivers	Data source <sup>a</sup>	Substances analyzed <sup>b</sup>	Substances assessed <sup>b</sup>	<b>Covariates</b> <sup>c</sup>
Asbridge et al. 2014 Canada [2]	Case-crossover	860 injured in RTC	B, Q	alc	$can^d$	ben, coc
Barbone et al. 1998 UK [6]	Case-crossover	19,386 RTC-involved	Prescription & RTC DB	n/a	and, ben <sup>d</sup>	
Bedard et al. 2007, US [7]	Recorded unsafe driving action <sup>e</sup>	32,543 killed in RTC	B or U FARS DB	alc, amp, ben, can coc, opi, opd	can <sup>f</sup>	age, alc, rec, sex
Corsenac et al. 2012, France [26]	Responsibility	72,685 involved in injurious RTC	Police & health Ins. DB	n/a	bup <sup>d</sup> , met <sup>d</sup>	age, alc, dis, dru geo, inj, occ, sex tim, vet
Drummer et al. 2004, Australia [29]	Responsibility	3,398 killed in RTC	B, police crash reports	alc, amp, ben, can coc, ecs, opi	ben, can <sup>d</sup> opi, sti <sup>g</sup>	age, alc, geo, sex sin, yea
Dubois et al. 2008, US [32]	Recorded unsafe driving action <sup>e</sup>	72,026 involved in non- alcohol fatal RTC	B or U FARS DB	alc, amp, ben, can coc, opi, opd	ben <sup>f,h</sup>	age, dru, rec, sex
Dubois et al. 2010, US [31]	Recorded unsafe driving action <sup>e</sup>	72,026 involved in non- alcohol fatal RTC	B or U FARS DB	alc, amp, ben, can coc, opi, opd	opi <sup>f,g</sup>	age, dru, rec, sex
Gadegbeku et al. 2011, France [41]	Responsibility	6,932 involved in fatal RTC	Alcohol: B if BR+ Drugs: B if U+ RTC DB	alc, amp, can, coc opi	amp, can <sup>d</sup> coc, opi	age, sex
Gates et al. 2013, US [42]	Recorded unsafe driving action <sup>e</sup>	8,325 male truck drivers involved in non-alcohol fatal RTC	B or U FARS DB	alc, amp, ben, can coc, opi, opd	can, opi <sup>f</sup> sti <sup>f</sup>	age, dru, rec
Gibson et al. 2009, UK [44]	Case-crossover Case-series	49,821 involved in RTC	Health DB	n/a	and <sup><math>h,i</math></sup> , anh <sup><math>i</math></sup> ben <sup><math>d</math></sup> , bet, hyp <sup><math>h,i</math></sup> , opi <sup><math>d</math></sup>	
Laumon et al. 2005, France [71]	Responsibility	10,748 killed in RTC	Alcohol: B if BR+ Drugs: B if U+ RTC DB	alc, amp, can coc opi	$\operatorname{can}^d$	age, alc, tim, vet
Longo et al., 2000 Australia [76]	Responsibility	2,500 injured in RTC	B, police crash reports	alc, ben, can, sti	can, sti	
Longo et al., 2001 Australia [77]	Responsibility	2,500 injured in RTC	B, police crash reports	alc, ben, can, sti	ben <sup>d</sup>	
Lowenstein & Koziol-McLain 2001, US [78]	Responsibility	414 injured in RTC	U RTC DB	alc, amp, bar, ben can, coc, lsd, mep opi, pcp, xyl	can	age, bel sex, tim
Meuleners et al. 2011, Australia [84]	Case-crossover	616 age 60+ injured in RTC	Prescription & hospital DB	n/a	and <sup>d</sup> , ben <sup>d</sup> opi <sup>d</sup>	age, dis, eth, geo mar, sex
Orriols et al. 2011, France [94]	Case-crossover Responsibility	72,685 drivers involved in injurious RTC	Health ins. & police DB police reports	n/a	$hyp^h$	age, alc, dis, dru geo, occ, sev, sex tim, vet
Orriols et al. 2012, France [95]	Case-crossover Responsibility	72,685 drivers involved in injurious RTC	Health Ins. & police DB police reports	n/a	and <sup><math>d</math></sup>	age, alc, dis, dru geo, occ, sev, sex tim, vet
Orriols et al. 2013, France [93]	Case-crossover Responsibility	72,685 drivers involved in injurious RTC	Health ins. & police DB police reports	n/a	ane <sup>d</sup>	age, alc, dis, dru geo, occ, sev, sex tim, vet
Orriols et al. 2013, Canada [96]	Case-crossover	2,919 age 66–84 Antidepressants used at day of RTC	Car ins. & health ins. DB	n/a	and <sup><math>d</math></sup>	
Poulsen et al., 2014 New Zealand [98]	Responsibility	1,046 killed in RTC	B, police crash reports	alc, amp, ben, can ecs, opd, opi	can	age, lic, sex, sin urb, vet
Rapoport et al. 2011, Canada [100]	Case time-to- event	159,678 drivers age 65+	Health ins. & RTC DB	n/a	and <sup>g</sup> , anf anp <sup>d</sup> , ben <sup>d</sup> mul <sup>d</sup> , ppi	dru, lic, sex

Table T. (Commucu	able 4. (Continued	1)
-------------------	--------------------	----

Authors, year country, ref.	Methodology	Drivers	Data source <sup>a</sup>	Substances analyzed <sup>b</sup>	Substances assessed <sup>b</sup>	<b>Covariates</b> <sup>c</sup>
Reguly et al. 2014, US [102]	Recorded unsafe driving action <sup>e</sup>	8,325 male truck drivers killed in non-alcohol RTC	B or U FARS DB	alc, amp, ben, can coc, opd, opi	opi	age, dru, rec sex
Sagberg, 2006 Norway [107]	Responsibility	4,448 RTC-involved	Q	n/a	and <sup><math>d</math></sup>	age, dis, exp
Soderstrom et al. 2005, US [111]	Responsibility	2,537 injured in RTC	Alcohol: B Drugs: U Hospital DB RTC DB	Not specified	$can, coc^d$	age, sex
van Elslande et al. 2012, France [114]	Recorded unsafe driving action <sup>e</sup>	174 THC-positive & 174 matched killed drivers (no alcohol or drugs detected)	B, RTC DB	alc, can, opd	can <sup>f</sup>	age, sex
Yang et al., 2011 Taiwan [122]	Case-crossover	1 million	Health ins. research DB	n/a	ben <sup>d</sup> , zhy <sup>d</sup>	

<sup>*a*</sup> Abbreviations for data sources: B = blood; BR = breath; DB = database or registry; Q = questionnaire or interview; U = urine; FARS = Fatality Analysis Reporting System, an US database operated by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.

<sup>b</sup> Abbreviations for substances: alc = alcohol; amp = amphetamines; and = antidepressants; ane = antiepileptics; anf = antifungal drugs; anh = antihistamines; anp = antipsychotics; bar = barbiturates; ben = benzodiazepines; bet = beta blockers; bup = pubrenorphine; can = cannabinoids; coc = cocaine/metabolites; ecs = ecstacy (MDMA); hyp = hypnotics; mep = meprobamate; met = methadone; mul = multiple drug use; opd = other psychoactive drugs; opi = opioids; ppi = proton pump inhibitors; sti = stimulants; xyl = xylene; zhy = z-hypnotics (zolpidem, zopiclone); n/a = not applicable.

<sup>c</sup> Abbreviations for covariates: age = age of driver; alc = alcohol used; bel = seatbelt use; dis = disease; dru = drug(s) used; eth = ethnicity; exp = driver experience or milage; geo = geographical area; inj = previous injuries; lic = driver license status; mar = marital status; occ = occupational status; rec = previous driving records; sev = injury severity; sin = single vehicle crash; tim = time of day or week; urb: urbanity; vet = vehicle type; yea = year of crash.

<sup>d</sup> Statistically significant association between drug use and RTC responsibility.

<sup>*e*</sup> Proxy measure for RTC responsibility.

<sup>f</sup> Statistically significant association between drug use and unsafe driving action.

<sup>g</sup> Statistically significant association for some groups of drivers.

<sup>*h*</sup> Statistically significant association for some drugs.

<sup>*i*</sup> For long-term use.

#### **II. RESULTS**

#### A. Study Quality

Many large studies based on registry data have been performed. The quality of those studies depends primarily on the quality and completeness of the registries, both regarding RTCs and drug use. The individual use of alcohol, illicit drugs, and medicinal drugs obtained on the illicit market is not included in those registries and may cause a study bias.

Many large population surveys have also been performed. It is well known that both the use of drugs and involvement in RTCs is often underreported, particularly the use of illicit drugs [1,37,54,89,113]. In many studies, the participants have not been asked about the use of alcohol or important drug groups, only selected drugs, e.g., only cannabis. Most surveys have not included factors related to alcohol or drug behavior, other behavioral factors, or personality factors, which may be important confounders. The largest and best-performed case-control studies on drugs and RTC involvement were part of the European Project DRUID (Driving Under the Influence of Drugs, Alcohol and Medicines)[12,56,57] and complied with most of the recommendations published by Walsh et al. [118]. Some small studies were also well performed; however, the statistical power was weaker in those studies due to small numbers of cases and controls.

Three large case-control studies have also been performed in the US [25,74,106]. However, two of them, Li et al. [74] and Romano et al. [106], were not in accordance with the most critical recommendations for research on drugged driving [118]. The cases were selected from the US Fatality Analysis Reporting System (FARS) database, whereas the controls were selected from the 2007 roadside survey [68]. The FARS database has limitations that do not allow calculation of reliable estimates of the risk of RTC involvement resulting from drug use [13,25]. This is due to many factors, including inconsistent drug testing between states, a bias in selecting cases for drug testing (only about half of fatal-RTC drivers are tested for drugs), failure to record all drug findings in the database, and data on drug findings were based on either blood or urine testing with cutoff concentrations not specified. In addition, the cutoff concentrations in blood from cases and oral fluid from controls were not equivalent; for some drugs the cutoffs for oral fluid testing were therefore too low and for others too high compared to those used for blood. Those issues introduced unpredictable errors in the studies. The calculated ORs would certainly have been different if only blood samples had been collected for cases and controls.

The third large US case-control study was performed in Virginia Beach, VA [25]. This study might have been better designed, but details had not been published by the time this review was prepared.

Some other studies used partly blood and partly urine samples and in one study only sweat samples were collected from some participants; this makes interpretation of data difficult.

Problems mentioned above pertaining to study quality are referred to for some of the studies that are presented below.

We have primarily included peer-reviewed articles. We have only included studies that accurately specified drugs or drug groups; studies on the association between RTCs and the use of "prescribed drugs", "psychoactive drugs", or "CNS drugs" without specifying which groups were excluded. Studies from 1998 discussed in the previous review article by Mørland [90] have not been included in this update.

# B. Road Traffic Crash (RTC) Risk Associated with Drug Use

#### 1. Benzodiazepines and z-Hypnotics

Engeland and co-workers [35] performed a population study using Norwegian prescription and RTC databases (*see* Table 1). They found an increased RTC risk during the first seven days after patients started using benzodiazepines (standardized incidence ratio [SIR] of 2.9, 95% CI 2.5–3.5 for tranquillizers and SIR 3.3, 95% CI 2.1–4.7 for hypnotics). A similar increased risk was found by Bramness and co-workers [20] for patients starting to use diazepam (SIR 2.8, 95% CI 2.2–3.6).

Gustavsen et al. [52] used Norwegian databases to study RTCs during the first week after a hypnotic drug was dispensed. The largest risk increase was observed for flunitrazepam (SIR 4.0, 95% CI 2.4–6.4), followed by nitrazepam (SIR 2.7, 95% CI 1.8–3.9), and lowest for z-hypnotics (zopiclone and zolpidem; SIR 2.3, 95% CI 2.0–2.7). Lai and co-workers [69] studied patients using zolpidem in Taiwan and found increased risk for major injury (hazard ratio (HR) 1.67, 95% CI 1.19–2.34); the risk increased with increasing dosage.

Bernhoft et al. [12] and Hels et al. [56,57] (*see* Table 2) found in the two DRUID case-control studies a significant association between the use of benzodiazepines or z-hypnotics and being injured (OR 1.77, 95% CI 1.16–2.69) or killed (OR 4.59, 95% CI 3.28–6.43) [56,57] in RTCs. The Belgian part of the DRUID case-control studies published by Kuypers and co-workers [66] found a significant association between the use of z-hypnotics and being injured (crude OR 6.45, 95% CI 1.63–25.52) but no significant association for benzodiazepines.

Gjerde and coworkers [46] found significant association between the use of only one benzodiazepine drug and being killed in an RTC (OR 8.8,95% CI 4.7-16.5), and similar results for using only diazepam (OR 6.4,95% CI 2.5-16.7). No significant association was found for the use of only zopiclone and fatal injury among drivers.

Significant associations between benzodiazepine use and being injured or killed in RTCs were found in casecontrol studies by Assum et al. [4] (OR 12.6, 95% CI 1.3-122.8), Brault et al. [23] (OR 3.9, 95% CI 2.5–6.1), Hou et al. [59] (OR 3.41, 95% CI 1.76–6.70), Mathijssen and Houwing [82] (OR 2.98, 95% CI 1.31–6.75), Movig et al. [87] (OR 5.05, 95% CI 1.82–14.04) and Mura et al. [88] (OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.2–2.4).

Chang and co-workers [24] found in a population-based case-control study (*see* Table 3) an adjusted OR of 1.64 (95% CI 1.43–1.88) for an RTC after one week's use of benzodiazepines and an OR of 1.37 (95% CI 1.06–1.75) for z-hypnotics. Johnell et al. [63] found in a Swedish study an OR of 1.26 (95% CI 1.17–1.36) for involvement in an injurious RTC after using benzodiazepines and no combination with other drugs.

Ravera et al. [101] performed a case-control study in the Netherlands using prescription data linked with police RTC data and driving license data. A significant association was found between the use of hypnotic benzodiazepines with intermediate half-life and involvement in an RTC (OR 6.44, 95% CI 1.44–28.78), but no significant associations were found for other hypnotics or sedatives.

Gibson et al. [44] (*see* Table 4) performed a caseseries study in the UK; an incidence rate ratio (IRR) of 1.94 (99% CI 1.62–2.32) was found for benzodiazepines in the first four weeks of treatment and increased with extended exposure. Short-term use of z-hypnotics was not associated with an increased RTC risk, but longer-term use was associated with a modest increased risk (IRR 1.37, 95% CI 1.05–1.79). Longo et al. [77] found in a responsibility study that drivers who tested positive for benzodiazepines had a higher culpability rate than drug-free drivers. They also found a significant linear relationship between benzodiazepine concentration and culpability for drivers who tested positive for benzodiazepines alone.

Meuleners and co-workers [84] performed a population-based case-crossover study of older drivers based on data from registries and found that benzodiazepine users had an OR of 5.3 (95% CI3.6–7.8) for hospitalization due to RTC.

Rapoport et al. [100] found a significant association between benzodiazepine use and RTC involvement among elderly drivers (HR 1.05, 95% CI 1.03–1.07) in a caseonly, time-to-event study.

Yang et al. [122] performed a case-crossover study based on data from the Taiwanese health insurance research database and found an OR for RTCs of 1.74 (95% CI 1.25–2.43) after taking one defined daily dose of zolpidem, OR 1.55 (95% CI 0.98–2.45) for zopiclone, OR 1.74 (95% CI 1.26–2.40) for long half-life benzodiazepines, and OR 1.13 (1.04–1.23) for short half-life benzodiazepines.

Dubois et al. [32], using the FARS database, studied unsafe driving actions among drivers killed in RTCs. Compared with drivers not using benzodiazepines, drivers taking intermediate or long-half-life benzodiazepines demonstrated increased odds for an unsafe driving action from ages 25 to 55. Drivers taking short-half-life benzodiazepines did not demonstrate increased odds.

Orriols et al. [94] found in a French registry-based responsibility study that the risk for being responsible for an RTC was higher in users of benzodiazepine hypnotics (OR 1.39, 95% CI 1.08–1.79) and among drivers to whom a dosage of more than one pill of zolpidem a day had been dispensed during the five months before an RTC (OR 2.46, 95% CI 1.70–3.56); no association was found for zopiclone and risk of an RTC.

Compton and Berning [25] found that RTC-involved drivers were significantly more likely to test positive for sedatives in the recent large case-control study in Virginia Beach, VA. However, if adjusting for age, gender, ethnicity, and presence of alcohol, the OR for RTC involvement was not statistically significant. Drummer and co-workers [29] found no significant association between benzodiazepine use and RTC responsibility; however, the number of cases was small, so the study had low statistical power.

Gjerde et al. [48] found, in another small study, no significant associations between a single use of diazepam, any benzodiazepine, or zopiclone, probably because of lower statistical power. However, significant associations were found for any use of those substances (alone or in combination with other drugs or alcohol). McGwin et al. [83] found, in an American casecontrol study based on registry data, a weak although not statistically significant association; OR of 5.2 (95% CI 0.9–30.0).

#### 2. Cannabis

Asbridge et al. [3] (Table 1) studied the association between self-reported driving under the influence of cannabis with RTCs among senior students. A statistically significant association was found; the adjusted OR was 2.39 (p < 0.001).

Fergusson and Horwood [38] studied the association between cannabis use and RTC involvement in a young birth cohort in New Zealand. They found a statistically significant relationship between reported annual cannabis use and RTC rates (p < 0.001). They concluded that the risk appeared to reflect the characteristics of the cannabis users rather than the effect of cannabis use on driver performance. In a second study of the same cohort published seven years later [39], the investigators found a marginally significant association (p=0.064) between driving under the influence of cannabis and RTCs after adjustment for annual distance driven and self-reported risky behaviors.

Gerberich et al. [43] found a significant association between current marijuana use and hospitalization due to RTCs among men (IRR 1.96, 95% CI 1.23–3.14) but no statistically significant association for women (IRR 1.23, 95% CI 0.71–2.05). However, the total number of RTCs was only 188 (100 for men and 88 for women), so the statistical power of this study was not very high.

Mann et al. [79] found a significant association between self-reported cannabis use more than once a week and self-reported RTC involvement (OR 2.76, 95% CI 1.50–5.08) in a Canadian population survey. They also found a significant association between self-reported driving within an hour after cannabis use and RTC (OR 2.61, 95% CI 1.45–4.68). They found similar results in a study performed three years later using a larger dataset [80]; the OR for self-reported collision after cannabis use was 1.84 (95% CI 1.23–2.76).

In a Spanish national survey, Pulido et al. [99] found a significant association between self-reported cannabis use more than four days per week and self-reported RTC injury (OR 1.6, 95% CI 1.0–2.6) but no significant association for less frequent use.

In a study in Wales using postal questionnaires, Wadsworth and co-workers [117] found that cannabis use during the previous year was associated with involvement in RTCs (OR 1.92, 95% CI 1.04–3.54).

The DRUID case-control studies published by Bernhoft et al. [12] and Hels et al. [56,57] (Table 2) found a significant association between THC and RTC injury (OR 1.91, 95% CI 1.15–3.17), but no statistically significant association with fatal RTCs (OR 1.25, 95% CI 0.45–3.51) [12,56]. For the Belgian part of the DRUID study using blood samples from cases and controls [66], a very high OR of 13.40 (95% CI 3.95–45.42) for involvement in injurious RTCs was calculated.

In American case-control studies, Li et al. [74] and Romano et al. [106] found significant crude ORs of 1.83 (95% CI 1.39–2.39) and 1.55 (95% CI 1.42–1.94), respectively. Compton and Berning [25] found that THC was associated with a significantly elevated risk of RTCs, with a crude OR of 1.25. However, when adjusting for age, gender, ethnicity, and presence of alcohol, the OR was not statistically significant.

Beirness et al. [9] found in a case-control study using data from British Columbia, Canada, an OR of 4.95 (95% CI 3.70–6.62). The study is not very well described and the cutoff concentrations in oral fluid for controls and blood for cases were most likely not equivalent.

Brault et al. [23] found in a Canadian case-control study using urine samples an OR for fatal RTCs associated with cannabis alone of 1.6 (96% CI 1.1–2.4); for all cannabis cases (with or without other substances) the OR was 4.5 (95% CI 3.3–6.0).

Mura et al. [88] found in a French case-control study a significant association between cannabis and RTC injury for THC (OR 2.5, 95% CI 1.5–4.2) when analyzing blood, urine, or sweat samples.

Marquet et al. [81] found significant difference in cannabis findings in urine samples from female drivers involved in RTCs in France compared to non-trauma patients (p = 0.02) but not for male drivers; however, the number of cases (n = 296) and controls (n = 278) were low, giving low statistical power, and the study was flawed as alcohol and sedative therapeutic drugs were not analyzed.

Blows and coworkers [15] (Table 3) found in a population-based case-control study in New Zealand based on self-reported data that there was no significant association between acute marijuana intake and RTC injury (OR 0.8, 95% CI 0.2–3.3), whereas there was a strong association between habitual use and RTC injury (OR 9.5, 95% CI 2.8–32.3). The authors concluded that the nature of this relationship was unclear.

Asbridge et al. [2] (Table 4) found in a Canadian case-crossover study using blood sample analysis and self-reported data that cannabis used was associated with a fourfold increased odds of an RTC (OR 4.11, 95% CI 1.98–8.52), whereas a regression relying on self-reports measures found no significant association.

Bedard and coworkers [7] found in a study of drivers killed in RTCs using data from the American FARS database that the presence of cannabis in biological samples was associated with significantly increased odds for potentially unsafe driving action (OR 1.29, 95% CI 1.11–1.50).

Drummer and coworkers [29] found in an Australian responsibility study that drivers with THC in their blood had a significantly higher likelihood of being culpable for an RTC than drug-free drivers (OR 2.7, 95% CI 1.02–7.0); for drivers with THC concentrations of 5 ng/mL or higher the OR was 6.6 (95% CI 1.5–28.0). Gadegbeku et al. [41] found an OR of 1.89 (95% CI 1.43–2.51) and Laumon et al. [71] found an OR of 3.32 (95% CI 2.63–4.18) for cannabis in similar responsibility studies in France; ORs in relation to THC concentration intervals were presented in both studies.

Van Elslande et al. [114] found that drivers who were killed in RTCs with THC in blood (and no detection of other drugs or alcohol) had significantly higher rates of driving failures than matched controls, i.e., fatally injured drivers without any alcohol or drugs detected in their blood test. The THC-positive drivers had significantly lower levels of attention (p <0.01) and significantly higher level of risky driving (p <0.01) as well as significantly higher frequencies of other failures.

Assum et al. [4] found no significant association between cannabis use and RTC involvement in their case-control study. However, the number of cases (n = 87) and controls (n = 410) were far too low to give sufficient statistical power; in addition, the cutoff concentrations in oral fluid and blood were not equivalent.

Gjerde et al. [46,48] found no significant associations between THC and fatal RTCs after using only cannabis in two Norwegian studies (OR 0.9, 95% CI 0.1–7.3; and OR 1.9, 95% CI 0.8–4.6), probably due to low statistical power, but significant associations if also including cases and controls with THC in combination with other drugs (OR 8.6, 95% CI 3.9–19.3; and OR 8.9, 95% CI 5.2–15.4).

Gates and co-workers [42] found in a study of data on truck drivers involved in fatal RTCs based on the American FARS database an OR of 1.14 (95% CI 0.84–1.53) for performing an unsafe driving action associated with cannabinoids, which was detected by either blood or urine testing.

Mathijssen and Houwing [82] found, in a Dutch study using blood samples from cases and urine or blood samples from controls, no statistically significant association with RTCs. Urine samples may be positive for cannabinoids for weeks after use. Thus, urine samples are particularly unsuitable for case-control studies on the association between cannabis use and RTCs, except if only urine samples are collected from both cases and controls. Therefore, this study design gives incorrect risk estimates. The number of included cases was low (n = 184). Movig et al. [87] found no significant association between cannabis use and RTC involvement in their casecontrol study. They collected either blood or urine from cases and controls. The fraction giving urine samples was significantly higher among controls (85%) than cases (39%), thereby underestimating the calculated ORs because urine samples are positive for drugs for a significantly longer time period than blood samples after drug use. In addition, the number of cases was low (n = 110), giving poor statistical power.

Woratanarat et al. [121] collected urine from both cases and controls. Very few samples from cases and controls were positive for cannabis, and no significant association between cannabis use and RTCs was found. As only urine samples were used, the study did not determine cannabis use immediately prior to the RTC but rather cannabis use during the last week(s).

Longo et al. [76] found no significant association between THC and responsibility for an RTC in an Australian study. In the US, Lowenstein and coworkers [78] found no significant association between cannabis in urine and RTC responsibility.

Poulsen and coworkers [98] found only a weak association, although not statistically significant, between THC alone in blood and culpability for fatal RTCs in New Zealand (OR 1.3, 95% CI 0.8–2.3) when studying 1,046 fatally injured drivers.

Soderstrom and coworkers [111] found neither a significant association between cannabis in urine and culpability for an RTC in a study of more than 2,500 drivers in Maryland.

#### 3. Opioids

ANorwegian population study published by Engeland et al. [35] (Table 1) linking data from prescription registries with RTC databases found increased risk for involvement in RTCs among patients using natural opium alkaloids (SIR 2.0, 95% CI 1.7–2.4). Another Norwegian study by Bachs et al. [5] found significant increased RTC risk among patients using codeine (SIR 1.9, 95% CI 1.6–2.2) but no significant accident risk associated with the use of tramadol (SIR 1.5, 95% CI 0.9–2.3). Bramness et al. [19] found that male opioid maintenance treatment patients using methadone had increased RTC risk (SIR 2.4, 95% CI 1.5–3.6) but no significantly increased risk was observed for female patients.

Bernhoft, Hels, and coworkers (Table 2) [12,56,57] found in the European DRUID case-control studies an OR for being injured after using medicinal opioids of 7.37 (95% CI 4.99–10.88) and for being killed an OR of 4.07 (95% CI 2.14–7.72) [12, 56]. For illicit opiates, the OR was not statistically significant for injured drivers,

whereas for killed drivers, the OR was 10.04 (95% CI 2.04-19.32).

Significantly increased risks for RTCs were also found in case-control studies by Brault et al. [23] for all opiate cases (OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.5–6.5), Mura et al. [88] for morphine (OR 8.2, 95% CI 2.5–27.3), Woratanarat et al. [121] for morphine (OR 27.97, 95% CI 9.77–80.08), Mathijssen and Houwing [82] for morphine/heroin (OR 32.4, 95% CI 1.78–592) and Li et al. [74] for narcotic analgesics (crude OR 3.03, 95% CI 2.00–4.48).

Gomes et al. [50] (Table 3) found in a Canadian population-based nested case-control study a statistically significant association between opioid dose and risk for RTC trauma among drivers; the OR was 1.29 (95% CI 1.06–1.57) for moderate doses and 1.42 (95% CI 1.15–1.76) for high doses.

Meuleners and co-workers [84] (Table 4) found in an Australian case-crossover study based on prescription and hospital databases a significant risk for injurious RTCs among older patients using opioid analgesics (OR 1.5, 95% CI 1.0–2.3). Reguly and coworkers [102] found in a study using data from the American FARS database that male truck drivers using opioid analgesics involved in fatal RTCs had greater odds of committing unsafe driver actions (OR 2.80, 95% CI 1.64–4.81).

Corsenac et al. [26] (Table 4) used data from three French national databases and performed responsibility and case-crossover analyses. Drivers who had been exposed to methadone and/or buprenorphine on the same day as an RTC had significantly higher odds for being responsible for the crash (OR 2.02, 95% CI 1.40–2.91).

Dubois and coworkers [31] found, in a study based on data from the American FARS database, that female drivers who tested positive for opioid analgesics demonstrated increased odds for performing an unsafe driving action from age groups 25–34 years (OR 1.35, 95% CI 1.05–1.74) to 55–64 years (OR 1.30, 95% CI 1.07–1.58); for male drivers this was true from age groups 25–34 years (OR 1.66, 95% CI 1.32–2.09) to 65–74 years (OR 1.39, 95% CI 1.17–1.67).

Gibson and coworkers [44] found, in a case-series study using a British health database, that initiation of opioid treatment was associated with an increased risk of RTCs (IRR 1.70; 99% CI 1.39–2.08).

Gates et al. [42] found in their study of truck drivers involved in fatal RTCs that those who were positive for opioid analgesics had higher odds for committing an unsafe driving action (OR 1.63, 95% CI 1.12–2.35).

Assum et al. [4] found no statistically significant association between opiate use and RTC involvement in a small Norwegian study. Compton and Berning [25] reported no significant association between the use of narcotic analgesics and RTC involvement. Romano et al. [106] found no significant association between the use of narcotic analgesics and fatal crash (crude OR 1.14, 95% CI 0.92–1.61). Marquet and coworkers [81] found no significant association, but the study was flawed because analysis of alcohol and sedative therapeutic drugs was not performed.

Kuypers and coworkers [66] found an OR for being injured of 3.91 (95% CI 0.97–8.68) after analyzing blood samples from cases and controls.

Movig et al. [87] found a positive association between opioids and RTCs, although not statistically significant (OR 2.35, 95% CI 0.87–6.34).

In responsibility studies, Drummer et al. [29] and Gadegbeku et al. [41] did not find any significant association between opiates and culpability; however, the statistical power in those studies was low.

#### 4. Stimulants

#### a. Amphetamines

Bernhoft, Hels, and coworkers (Table 2) found in the European DRUID case-control studies that the use of amphetamines alone was associated with adjusted ORs of 14.15 (95% CI 5.82-34.42) [12,56,57] for being injured and 34.34 (95% CI 13.18–89.49) [12,56] for being killed. Blood samples were collected and analyzed from cases and oral fluid or blood samples from controls using equivalent cutoff concentrations for blood and oral fluid. Gjerde et al. found in two similar studies in Norway adjusted ORs of 20.9 (95% CI7.3–60.0) [48] and 41.6 (95% CI 12.6–137.1) [46] after using only amphetamine or methamphetamine, while the ORs were 57.1 (95% CI 27.3-119.5) and 76.9 (95% CI 38.7–152.9) for use of amphetamines in total, i.e., with or without other substances. Blood and oral fluid were analyzed with equivalent cutoff concentrations. The latest study included practically the same control material as used in the Norwegian contribution to the DRUID Project and samples from killed drivers for several more years.

Kuypers et al. [66] published results from the Belgian part of the DRUID case-control studies using blood samples from cases and controls. For amphetamines (single use) the crude OR for being injured in an RTC was 54.82 (95% CI 6.09–493.12); an adjusted OR was not calculated.

Brault et al. [23] found in a Canadian case-control study an OR for being killed in an RTC after use of amphetamines of 11.0 (95% CI 2.9–41.3) using urine samples; this included also amphetamines in combination with other substances. Woratanarat et al. [121] found OR of 8.88 (95% CI 4.54–17.39), also based on urine samples from both cases and controls in Thailand.

Assum and coworkers [4] found amphetamines in blood samples from eight cases and none of the controls in a small Norwegian study. In order to calculate the OR, 0.5 unit was added to negatives and positives among cases and controls and 37 negative cases were added to correct for sampling bias. The calculated OR for RTC involvement was then 29.5 (95% CI 1.5–575.6). The statistical power of this study was poor.

Neither Gadegbeku et al. [41] nor Movig et al. [87] found any significant association in a French responsibility study and a Dutch case-control study. Gadegbeku and coworkers found only 54 drivers positive for amphetamines in blood samples in a responsibility study (OR 1.54, 95% CI 0.66-3.56), which gave a fairly low statistical power. Movig and coworkers collected either blood or urine from cases and controls; the fraction giving urine samples was significantly higher among controls (85%) than cases (39%), thereby underestimating the calculated ORs because urine samples are positive for drugs for a significantly longer time period than blood samples after drug use. Another difficulty was that only 7 out of 110 cases were positive for amphetamines and 13 out of 816 controls, giving low statistical power and a wide confidence interval (OR 2.10, 95% CI 0.66-6.73).

#### b. Cocaine

In a Spanish population study using questionnaires, Pulido et al. [99] (Table 1) found a significant association between weekly cocaine use and involvement in nonfatal RTC injury (OR 2.8, 95% CI 1.1–7.1) but not for less frequent use. Stoduto et al. [112] found in a similar Canadian study a significant association between selfreported cocaine use last year and involvement in an RTC (OR 2.11, 95% CI 1.06–4.18).

The DRUID case-control studies (Table 2) found no significant association between the use of cocaine and injuries; the adjusted OR was 1.65 (95% CI 0.66–4.16) [12,56,57]. For fatal RTCs the adjusted OR could not be calculated; the crude OR was 22.34 (95% CI 3.66–36.53) [12,56]. Brault et al. [23] found OR of 4.5 (95% CI 1.2–16.3) for the association with fatal RTCs for cocaine alone and 17.2 (95% CI 10.8–27.2) for all cocaine cases altogether based on urine testing.

Soderstrom et al. [111] (Table 4) found in an American responsibility study significant associations between cocaine and RTC injury for male drivers (OR 2.17, 95% CI 1.14–4.13); for female drivers a positive association was also found, although not statistically significant (OR 2.34, 95% CI 0.86–6.35).

Gadegbeku et al. [41] found no significant association based on the calculations of only 34 cocaine-positive cases

in France (OR 1.17, 95% CI 0.45–3.02). Kuypers et al. [66] found only one case and two controls that were positive for cocaine and therefore no significant association. Movig et al. [87] found 10 cases and 16 controls that were positive for cocaine (OR 2.04, 95% CI 0.69–6.09) and thus no significant association based on those low numbers when using a combination of urine and blood samples.

c. Stimulants in Total Rather Than Specified Substances Li et al. [74] and Romano et al. [106] (Table 2) studied data recorded in the FARS database and data from the American roadside survey of drugs and driving [68]. The two studies reported crude OR for stimulants of 3.57 (95% CI 2.63–4.76) and 1.87 (95% CI 1.45–2.43), respectively, for association with fatal RTCs based on case-control calculations without specifying the cutoff concentrations used. Analytical findings in urine or blood samples from cases and samples of oral fluid from controls were used to calculate the risk. Compton and Berning [25] reported no significant association between the use of stimulants and RTC involvement in a large study in the US.

Gates and coworkers [42] (Table 4) used the FARS database to study the responsibility in fatal RTCs, and found an OR for unsafe driving action of 1.78 (95% CI 1.41–2.26) among stimulant-positive truck drivers compared to stimulant-negative drivers.

In Australian responsibility studies, Longo et al. [76] found that a higher proportion of drivers who tested positive for stimulants in blood were culpable compared to those who were drug-free although not statistically significant, whereas Drummer et al. [29] found an OR of 2.27 (95% CI 0.9–5.6) between stimulant findings and culpability; for truck drivers the calculated OR was 8.83 (95% CI 1.00–78).

#### 5. Antidepressants

Bramness and coworkers [22] (Table 1) found a minor risk increase for antidepressants (SIR 1.4, 95% CI 1.2–1.6 for sedating antidepressants and SIR 1.6, 95% CI 1.5–1.7 for nonsedating antidepressants) in a population study using data from prescription and RTC registries.

Chang and coworkers [24] (Table 3) found an increased risk for RTC after one week's use of antidepressants in a Taiwanese registry-based case-control study (OR 1.71, 95% CI 1.29–2.26). Ravera et al. [101] found significant association between the use of SSRIs (OR 2.03, 95% CI 1.31–3.14) and involvement in RTCs in a similar study.

Meuleners et al. [84] (Table 4) found in a populationbased case-crossover study greater risk for RTC involvement among drivers aged 60 or older (OR 1.8, 95% CI 1.0–3.3), highest among patients with a chronic condition (OR 3.4, 95% CI 1.3–8.5). Orriols et al. [95] used data from the French national healthcare insurance database, the national police database, and police reports to perform responsibility and casecrossover studies. They found a significant association between the risk of being responsible for an RTC and prescription of antidepressants (OR 1.34, 95% CI 1.22–1.47); the case-crossover analysis showed no association with treatment prescription, but the risk of RTCs increased after an initiation of antidepressant treatment (OR 1.49, 95% CI 1.24–1.79) and after a change in antidepressant treatment (OR 1.32, 95% CI 1.09–1.60); the exposure was considered to start on the day following dispensing.

In a case-crossover study of elderly drivers, Orriols et al. [96] found an increased risk of RTCs in drivers with a prescription of antidepressants before their RTC when compared with a prescription of antidepressants four to eight months before the RTC; OR of 1.19 (95% CI 1.08–1.30) to OR of 1.42 (95% CI 1.30–1.55).

Rapoport et al. [100] found a significant association between antidepressant use and RTCs among elderly drivers (HR 1.07, 95% CI 1.05–1.10). A prescription of a benzodiazepine along with the antidepressant was associated with a higher risk (HR 1.23, 95% CI 1.17–1.28), whereas the lack of concomitant benzodiazepine yielded no increase in RTC risk associated with antidepressant use. Similarly, concomitant use of some anticholinergic drugs was associated with significantly higher risk.

Sagberg [107] found a significant risk associated with the use of antidepressants in a Norwegian responsibility study using questionnaires (OR 1.70, p < 0.04).

Gibson et al. [44] did not find any elevated risk for RTC involvement when using tricyclic antidepressants in a case-series study; however, extended use of SSRIs was associated with a small increased risk (IRR 1.16, 99% CI 1.06–1.28).

Hou et al. [59] found no significant association in a case-control study in Taiwan. Compton and Berning [25] reported no significant association in a large case-control study in the US. Woratanarat et al. [121] found no significant association in a Thai case-control study based on urine samples. McGwin et al. [83] found no association between antidepressant use and RTC involvement in a study based on interviews and RTC registry.

#### 6. Other drugs

Bramness and coworkers [20] (Table 1) found increased RTC risk during the first week after patients started using carisoprodol (SIR 3.7, 95% CI 2.9–4.8) when linking the Norwegian prescription registry with the RTC registry, and no risk increase for salbutamol. In a similar study [21], no significant risk increase was observed for lithium or valproate, except for young female drivers on lithium (OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.3–6.6). Etminan et al. [36] also found an increased risk for RTCs among elderly drivers in Canada using lithium (OR 1.80, 95% CI 1.00–3.24).

In a Canadian case-control study based on analysis of biological samples, Brault et al. [23] (Table 2) found significant association between any use of PCP (alone or in combination) and being killed in an RTC (OR 31.4, 95% CI 9.2–107.4).

Engeland et al. [35] (Table 1) found significant association between NSAIDs and RTC involvement (for men: OR 1.6, 95% CI 1.2–2.1; for women: OR 1.5 (95% CI 1.0–2.0). A significant association was also found for penicillins for men: OR 1.4 (95% CI 1.0–2.0); no significant association was found for women. No significant associations were found for the use of beta-blockers and calcium receptor antagonists.

Hemmelgarn et al. [58] (Table 3) found in a Canadian case-control study on antidiabetic drugs based on registry data elevated risk for injurious RTC involvement among elderly patients using insulin (relative risk (RR) 1.4, 95% CI 1.0–2.0) and combined use of sulfonylurea and metformin (RR 1.3, 95% 1.0–1.7).

Rapoport et al. [100] found a significant association between the use of antipsychotic drugs and RTC involvement among elderly drivers (HR 1.17, 95% CI 1.07–1.27). The use of proton pump inhibitors or antifungal drugs was not associated with RTCs.

Skurtveit et al. [110] (Table 1) found in a Norwegian registry study a significant association between RTCs and the use of insulin (SIR 1.4, 95% CI 1.2–1.6); however, the association was not statistically significant for drivers above 35 years of age.

A case-control study based on questionnaires published by McGwin et al. [83] (Table 3) in the US found significant associations between the use of NSAIDs (OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.0–2.6), angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (OR 1.6, 95% CI 1.0–2.7), or anticoagulants (OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.0–73) and RTCs among the elderly. The reasons for these associations are unclear and might be related to the diseases rather than the medication. No significant association was found for other hypertension or heart medication or for the use of insulin, oral hypoglycemics, diuretics, hormones, or arthritis glaucoma medication.

Oriolls et al. [93] (Table 4) found that drivers exposed to prescribed antiepileptic medicines had increased risk of being responsible for an RTC (OR 1.74, 95% CI 1.29–2.34); the association was also significant for the most severe epileptic patients (OR 2.20, 95% CI 1.31–3.69). However, case-crossover analysis found no association between RTC risk and treatment prescription, suggesting that the RTC risk was more likely to be related to the disease with seizures than to the effect of antiepileptic medicines. Gibson et al. [44] found no effect of receiving a prescription for antihistamines on short-term risk for RTCs, but extended use was associated with increased risk (IRR 1.21; 99% CI 1.04–1.41). They found no significant association for the use of beta-blockers.

Other studies found no significantly increased RTC involvement for barbiturates [23,59] and antihistamines [97,121] and for elderly patients using warfarin [27], carbamazepine [36], or antipsychotics [24].

#### 7. Multiple Drug Use

The DRUID case-control studies [12,56,57] (Table 2) found that the OR associated with multiple drug use was larger than for single drug use except for amphetamines. Kuypers et al. [66] found an OR of 210.97 (95% CI 4.90–9088.71) for combination of stimulants and sedatives and an OR of 13.70 (95% CI 2.95–63.66) for multiple sedatives.

Assum et al. [4] found an OR for RTC involvement of 63.2 (95% CI 3.6–1115.3) after using two drugs and 29.5 (95% CI 1.5–575.6) when using three drugs.

Bogstrand et al. [17] found that the OR for being injured in an RTC after using two drugs was 13.3 (95% CI 4.2–41.3) and after using three or more drugs 38.9 (95% CI 8.2–185.0).

Bogstrand and Gjerde [16] found in a study of drivers arrested for drugged driving (both those arrested after involvement in an RTC and those arrested for other reasons) that multiple drug use was associated with very high risk for arrest, particularly the combination of amphetamines and benzodiazepines. Arrests for drugged driving based on dangerous driving behavior was in this study regarded as a proxy for RTC responsibility.

Gjerde and coworkers found significantly higher OR after using two or more drugs than after using only one drug in case-control studies; after using two or more medicinal drugs the calculated OR was 17.1 (95% CI 5.7–51.9) [48] and OR 28.8 (95% CI 7.3–113.6) [46]; for two or more illegal drugs the OR was 49.7 (95% CI 4.4–561.6) [48]. Highest ORs were found for the combination of amphetamines and benzodiazepines: 98.2 (95% CI 24.9–386.9) [46].

Mathijssen and Houwing [82] found an OR of 24.0 (95% CI 11.5–49.7) for being injured in an RTC after using combinations of drugs, whereas Movig et al. [87] found an OR of 6.05 (95% CI 2.60–14.10) for becoming injured. Li et al. found an OR of 3.41 (95% CI 2.43–4.73) [74].

However, Woratanarat et al. [121] did not find significantly different ORs for multiple and single drug use.

#### **III. DISCUSSION**

This article is an update of a review by Mørland published in 2000 [90]. The present review includes only studies published in the English language, primarily in peerreviewed journals, from January 1998 to February 2015. The results of a large number of investigations have been published during this period, and in general the findings confirm the conclusions made in the previous review.

The European DRUID Project has so far been the most comprehensive study of alcohol, drugs, and RTC risk. The project included large case-control studies [12,56,57,66,101], a responsibility study [41], and other epidemiological and experimental studies that are not reviewed in this article (for an overview, see project deliverables at *http://www.druid-project.eu*).

The DRUID Project and other investigations documented that alcohol constitutes larger RTC risk than the use of any single drug when disregarding the concentrations in blood samples of the substances used. However, the largest increase in RTC risk has been observed for combined use of alcohol and drugs, a combination that has not been discussed in this article.

As mentioned above, a large case-control study was performed recently in Virginia Beach, VA [25]. The prevalence of drugs was found to be 16.0% among RTCinvolved drivers and 14.4% among matched drivers in normal traffic. The calculated risks for RTC involvement in that study was significantly lower for both alcohol and drugs than the risks reported in the DRUID Project and many other studies. The reasons for this difference may be discussed when more study details have been published. However, RTC-involved drivers who were too impaired to give informed consent were excluded, as well as RTCinvolved drivers below 18 years of age; those two groups were regarded as ineligible. Among the eligible drivers, 5.3% refused to participate. Those three facts might have biased the study significantly, producing incorrectly low drug prevalence among RTC-involved drivers and thus also too low ORs.

The prevalence of drugs in fatally injured drivers in the US (28.3% in 2010) [18] was significantly higher than that reported in the Virginia Beach study (16.0%). This could be related to the inclusion of all types of RTCs, even quite trivial ones, in the study [25], in addition to the factors mentioned above.

#### A. Benzodiazepines and z-Hypnotics

A total of 28 different analytical epidemiological studies dealt with effects of benzodiazepines and/or z-hypnotics or sedatives in general. In 25 of these studies there was a statistically significant association between benzodiazepines/z-hypnotics (or use of unspecified sedatives) and RTCs. Three studies did not report a significant association, but two of these had low statistical power and one found a weak but not statistically significant association. Thus in sum, analytical epidemiological studies published since 1998 in general found a clear association between use of benzodiazepines and/or z-hypnotics and increased RTC risk.

#### B. Cannabis

A total of 36 different analytical epidemiological studies have presented data for the effects of cannabis, and 23 found a statistically significant association between cannabis use and RTCs and injuries. The calculated OR was typically in the range 1–4, and was thus similar to the risk observed after starting therapeutic use of a benzodiazepine. Thirteen studies did not report significant associations, but seven of these had either low statistical power or questionable study design. Significant associations as well as lack of significant associations were reported in all three types of study design, i.e., in cohort, case-control, and responsibility/case-crossover.

#### C. Opioids

A total of 25 different analytical epidemiological studies dealing with the effects of opioids were identified. In 17 of these studies a statistically significant association between opioid use and RTCs was found; in eight studies the association was not statistically significant. However, seven of those studies had either low statistical power and/ or questionable design. Significant as well as nonsignificant associations were found in case-control and responsibility/ case-crossover studies. The three cohort studies performed found significant associations between prescribed opioids (with the exception of tramadol) and RTC risk. Thus in sum, analytical epidemiological studies performed after 1998 found in most cases an association between opioid use and RTCs.

#### **D.** Stimulants

#### 1. Amphetamines

Ten different analytical epidemiological studies have included amphetamines: seven case-control studies and three responsibility studies. Eight of these found statistically significant associations between amphetamine use and RTC risk. The two studies that reported no significant associations still reported a trend. One of these studies most probably underestimated the calculated risk due to different distribution of blood and urine samples among control and cases. The median OR for RTC involvement in the 10 studies was 18. Thus in sum, the epidemiological studies performed since 1998 report a clear association between amphetamine use and increased RTC risk. Several of these studies found that amphetamine and methamphetamine were associated with higher RTC risk than any other drug, also when not combined with other psychoactive substances.

High concentrations of amphetamines may have harmful effects on self-perception, critical judgment, and risk taking, whereas when the stimulating effects are disappearing, a period associated with fatigue, anxiety, and irritability may occur even if the drug is still present in the body. The risk for involvement in RTCs might be increased both during the stimulated and fatigue periods when taking high doses [75]. It is likely that problematic amphetamine users and addicts constitute a larger traffic safety problem than drivers that occasionally are taking small doses of amphetamines to stay awake and alert during long journeys with little time for resting.

#### 2. Cocaine

Nine different analytical epidemiological investigations studied the effect of cocaine. Five found an association between cocaine use and crashes, whereas 4 studies did not conclude with a significant association. Three of the latter had, however, low statistical power. The ORs reported in all studies were in general lower than those reported for amphetamines. Six of the studies included both amphetamines and cocaine. In all of these, regardless of whether an association between stimulant use and accidents was found or not, the OR-values were always higher for amphetamines. Thus in sum analytical epidemiological studies performed since 1998 found in most cases an association between cocaine use and crash risk. This association appeared, however, to be somewhat weaker than for amphetamines.

#### E. Antidepressants

Thirteen different analytical epidemiological studies dealing with the effects of antidepressants were identified. In eight of these there was a statistical significant association between use of antidepressants and RTCs; one additional study reported a small risk increase for SSRIs, but not for tricyclic antidepressants. No significant association was observed in four studies. Significant as well as nonsignificant associations were found in case-control and responsibility/case-crossover studies. The only cohort study performed found a statistically significant association. One crossover study indicated that the condition itself (depression) was associated with increased risk, but also that the initial period after start of drug treatment represented a similar association. In sum, the analytical epidemiological studies published since 1998 indicate that there is some association between the use of antidepressants, both tricyclic and SSRIs, and increased RTC risk. The calculated statistically significant ORs were, however, around two or lower.

#### F. Other Drugs

In general there were few studies on the associations between other drugs and RTCs. Antihistamines were studied in three reports; two of them did not find an association with RTCs, while the third one found a modest increased risk. The most marked risk increase (OR 31.4) was found for the association between RTCs and any use of PCP, and the risk increase after using carisoprodol (SIR 3.8) was higher than for many benzodiazepines.

#### G. Multiple Drug Use

Twelve different analytical epidemiological studies published since 1998 all found that drug combinations increased the ORs for the association with RTCs compared to single drug use. In some studies the calculated increases in OR were very marked.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Approximately 15 analytical epidemiological studies published as of 1998 were included in the review published in 2000. In the present paper we have identified 72 analytical epidemiological studies published after those included in the former review. The scientific basis has thus increased substantially within this field of research, and thus constitutes a broader background for the following conclusions.

Epidemiological studies have found that after alcohol, amphetamines are the single substances with highest risk for RTC involvement. Increased RTC risk has also been well documented for cocaine, cannabis, benzodiazepines, z-hypnotics, opioids, and for some antidepressants. Increased RTC risk has also been found for carisoprodol and PCP, although few epidemiological studies have been performed on those substances. Associations with RTCs have been found for some other drugs as well, but it is unclear whether this association was more dependent on the underlying disease than the drug use per se.

The combination of two or more psychoactive drugs has been found to be more risky than single use. However, the combination of psychoactive drugs with alcohol is associated with the highest RTC risk.

The calculated risks for involvement in RTCs associated with the use of different drugs, particularly nontherapeutic use, are closely related to behavioral factors such as risk-taking behavior and impulsivity. The attitudes toward driving after drug use may also vary between countries and between groups within countries. Therefore, the calculated risks associated with drug use may vary between different studies. In addition, abuse of drugs for longer periods can cause somatic and mental changes that may increase the RTC risk as well. Therapeutic drug use may also constitute a lower risk for RTC involvement than nontreated illness. For those reasons it is difficult to determine quantitatively the risk posed by the use of a single drug dose per se in epidemiological studies. The risk depends on who is taking the drug, why, when, how much, how often, and under which circumstances.

#### REFERENCES

- af Wåhlberg AE, Dorn L, Kline T: The effect of social desirability on self reported and recorded road traffic accidents; *Transp Res Part F Traffic Psychol Behav* 13:106; 2010.
- Asbridge M, Mann R, Cusimano MD, Trayling C, Roerecke M, Tallon JM, Whipp A, Rehm J: Cannabis and traffic collision risk: findings from a case-crossover study of injured drivers presenting to emergency departments; *Int J Public Health* 59:395; 2014.
- Asbridge M, Poulin C, Donato A: Motor vehicle collision risk and driving under the influence of cannabis: evidence from adolescents in Atlantic Canada; *Accident Anal Prev* 37:1025; 2005.
- 4. Assum T, Mathijssen MPM, Houwing S, Buttress SC, Sexton B, Tunbridge RJ, Oliver J: *The prevalence of drug driving and relative risk estimations. A study conducted in The Netherlands, Norway and the United Kingdom (European Union Research Project IMMORTAL);* Kuratorium für Verkehrssicherheit: Vienna, Austria; 2005.
- Bachs LC, Engeland A, Mørland JG, Skurtveit S: The risk of motor vehicle accidents involving drivers with prescriptions for codeine or tramadol; *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 85:596; 2009.
- Barbone F, McMahon AD, Davey PG, Morris AD, Reid IC, McDevitt DG, MacDonald TM: Association of road-traffic accidents with benzodiazepine use; *Lancet* 352:1331; 1998.
- 7. Bedard M, Dubois S, Weaver B: The impact of cannabis on driving; *Can J Public Health* 98:6; 2007.
- Beirness DJ, Beasley EE: A roadside survey of alcohol and drug use among drivers in British Columbia; *Traffic Inj Prev* 11:215; 2010.
- Beirness DJ, Beasley EE, Boase P: A comparison of drug use by fatally injured drivers and drivers at risk; In Watson B (Ed): *Proceedings of the 20th International Council on Alcohol, Drugs and Traffic Safety Conference*; Center for Accident Research and Road Safety Queensland: Brisbane, Australia; pp 96–100; 2013.
- Beirness DJ, Simpson HM: Lifestyle correlates of risky driving and accident involvement among youth; *Alcohol Drugs Driving* 4:193; 1988.
- 11. Berghaus G, Ramaekers JG, Drummer OH: Demands on

scientific studies in different fields of forensic medicine and forensic sciences. Traffic medicine – impaired driver: alcohol, drugs, diseases; *Forensic Sci Int* 165:233; 2007.

- 12. Bernhoft IM, Hels T, Lyckegaard A, Houwing S, Verstraete AG: Prevalence and risk of injury in Europe by driving with alcohol, illicit drugs and medicines; *Procedia Soc Behav Sci* 48:2907; 2012.
- Berning A, Smither DD: Understanding the Limitations of Drug Test Information, Reporting, and Testing Practices in Fatal Crashes (Research Note DOT HS 812 072); National Highway Traffic Safety Administration: Washington, DC; 2014.
- 14. Bingham CR, Shope JT: Adolescent predictors of traffic crash patterns from licensure into early young adulthood; *Annu Proc Assoc Adv Automot Med* 49:245; 2005.
- 15. Blows S, Ivers RQ, Connor J, Ameratunga S, Woodward M, Norton R: Marijuana use and car crash injury; *Addiction* 100:605; 2005.
- 16. Bogstrand ST, Gjerde H: Which drugs are associated with highest risk for being arrested for driving under the influence? A case-control study; *Forensic Sci Int* 240:21; 2014.
- Bogstrand ST, Gjerde H, Normann PT, Rossow I, Ekeberg Ø: Alcohol, psychoactive substances and non-fatal road traffic accidents - a case-control study; *BMC Public Health* 12:734; 2012.
- Brady JE, Li G: Trends in alcohol and other drugs detected in fatally injured drivers in the United States, 1999–2010; *Am J Epidemiol* 179:692; 2014.
- Bramness JG, Skurtveit S, Mørland J, Engeland A: An increased risk of motor vehicle accidents after prescription of methadone; *Addiction* 107:967; 2012.
- Bramness JG, Skurtveit S, Mørland J, Engeland A: The risk of traffic accidents after prescriptions of carisoprodol; *Accident Anal Prev* 39:1050; 2007.
- Bramness JG, Skurtveit S, Neutel CI, Mørland J, Engeland A: An increased risk of road traffic accidents after prescriptions of lithium or valproate? *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf* 18:492; 2009.
- Bramness JG, Skurtveit S, Neutel CI, Mørland J, Engeland A: Minor increase in risk of road traffic accidents after prescriptions of antidepressants: a study of population registry data in Norway; *J Clin Psychiatry* 69:1099; 2008.
- Brault M, Dussault C, Bouchard J, Lemire AM: The contribution of alcohol and other drugs among fatally injured drivers in Quebec: final results; In Oliver J, Williams P, Clayton A (Ed): *Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Alcohol, Drugs and Traffic Safety (CD-ROM)*; International Council on Alcohol, Drugs and Traffic Safety: Glasgow, Scotland; 2004.
- Chang CM, Wu EC, Chen CY, Wu KY, Liang HY, Chau YL, Wu CS, Lin KM, Tsai HJ: Psychotropic drugs and risk of motor vehicle accidents: a population-based case-control study; *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 75:1125; 2013.
- Compton RP, Berning A: Drug and Alcohol Crash Risk (Research Note DOT HS 812 117); National Highway Safety Administration: Washington, DC; 2015.
- 26. Corsenac P, Lagarde E, Gadegbeku B, Delorme B, Tricotel A, Castot A, Moore N, Philip P, Laumon B, Orriols L: Road traffic crashes and prescribed methadone and buprenorphine: a French registry-based case-control study; *Drug Alcohol Depend* 123:91; 2012.

- 27. Delaney JA, Opatrny L, Suissa S: Warfarin use and the risk of motor vehicle crash in older drivers; *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 61:229; 2006.
- Drummer OH: Epidemiology and traffic safety: culpability studies; In Verster JC, Pandi-Perumal SR, Ramaekers JG, de Gier JJ (Ed): *Drugs, driving and traffic safety*; Birkhäuser Verlag: Basel, Switzerland; pp 93–106; 2009.
- 29. Drummer OH, Gerostamoulos J, Batziris H, Chu M, Caplehorn J, Robertson MD, Swann P: The involvement of drugs in drivers of motor vehicles killed in Australian road traffic crashes; *Accident Anal Prev* 36: 239-248; 2004.
- Drummer OH, Kourtis I, Beyer J, Tayler P, Boorman M, Gerostamoulos D: The prevalence of drugs in injured drivers; *Forensic Sci Int* 215:14; 2012.
- 31. Dubois S, Bedard M, Weaver B: The association between opioid analgesics and unsafe driving actions preceding fatal crashes; *Accident Anal Prev* 42:30; 2010.
- Dubois S, Bedard M, Weaver B: The impact of benzodiazepines on safe driving; *Traffic Inj Prev* 9:404; 2008.
- Dunlop SM, Romer D: Adolescent and young adult crash risk: sensation seeking, substance use propensity and substance use behaviors; *J Adolesc Health* 46:90; 2010.
- 34. Dussault C, Lemire AM, Bouchard J, Brault M: Drug use among Quebec drivers: the 1999 roadside survey; In Laurell H, Schlyter F (Ed): Proceedings of the 15th Conference on Alcohol, Drugs and Traffic Safety, 21-26 May 2000, Stockholm (CD ROM); Swedish National Road Administration: Borlänge, Sweden; Paper 309; 2000.
- Engeland A, Skurtveit S, Mørland J: Risk of road traffic accidents associated with the prescription of drugs: a registry-based cohort study; *Ann Epidemiol* 17:597; 2007.
- 36. Etminan M, Hemmelgarn B, Delaney JA, Suissa S: Use of lithium and the risk of injurious motor vehicle crash in elderly adults: case-control study nested within a cohort; *Br Med J* 328:558; 2004.
- Fendrich M, Johnson TP, Wislar JS, Hubbell A, Spiehler V: The utility of drug testing in epidemiological research: results from a general population survey; *Addiction* 99:197; 2004.
- Fergusson DM, Horwood LJ: Cannabis use and traffic accidents in a birth cohort of young adults; *Accident Anal Prev* 33:703; 2001.
- 39. Fergusson DM, Horwood LJ, Boden JM: Is driving under the influence of cannabis becoming a greater risk to driver safety than drink driving? Findings from a longitudinal study; *Accident Anal Prev* 40:1345; 2008.
- 40. Ferner RE: Post-mortem clinical pharmacology; *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 66:430; 2008.
- 41. Gadegbeku B, Amoros E, Laumon B: Responsibility study: main illicit psychoactive substances among car drivers involved in fatal road crashes; *Ann Adv Automot Med* 55:293; 2011.
- 42. Gates J, Dubois S, Mullen N, Weaver B, Bedard M: The influence of stimulants on truck driver crash responsibility in fatal crashes; *Forensic Sci Int* 228:15; 2013.
- 43. Gerberich SG, Sidney S, Braun BL, Tekawa IS, Tolan KK, Quesenberry CP: Marijuana use and injury events resulting in hospitalization; *Ann Epidemiol* 13:230; 2003.
- 44. Gibson JE, Hubbard RB, Smith CJ, Tata LJ, Britton JR, Fogarty AW: Use of self-controlled analytical techniques to assess the association between use of prescription

medications and the risk of motor vehicle crashes; *Am J Epidemiol* 169:761; 2009.

- 45. Gjerde H, Bogstrand ST, Lillsunde P: Why is the odds ratio for involvement in serious road traffic accident among drunk drivers in Norway and Finland higher than in other countries? *Traffic Inj Prev* 15:1; 2014.
- 46. Gjerde H, Christophersen AS, Normann PT, Mørland J: Associations between substance use and fatal road traffic accidents among car and van drivers in Norway: a casecontrol study; *Transp Res Part F Traffic Psychol Behav* 17:134; 2013.
- 47. Gjerde H, Langel K, Favretto D, Verstraete AG: Estimation of equivalent cutoff thresholds in blood and oral fluid for drug prevalence studies; *J Anal Toxicol* 38:92; 2014.
- 48. Gjerde H, Normann PT, Christophersen AS, Samuelsen SO, Mørland J: Alcohol, psychoactive drugs and fatal road traffic accidents in Norway: a case-control study; *Accident Anal Prev* 43:1197; 2011.
- 49. Gjerde H, Verstraete AG: Estimating equivalent cutoff thresholds for drugs in blood and oral fluid using prevalence regression: A study of tetrahydrocannabinol and amphetamine; *Forensic Sci Int* 212:e26; 2011.
- 50. Gomes T, Redelmeier DA, Juurlink DN, Dhalla IA, Camacho X, Mamdani MM: Opioid dose and risk of road trauma in Canada: a population-based study; *JAMA Intern Med* 173:196; 2013.
- Gonzalez-Wilhelm L: Prevalence of alcohol and illicit drugs in blood specimens from drivers involved in traffic law offenses. Systematic review of cross-sectional studies; *Traffic Inj Prev* 8:189; 2007.
- 52. Gustavsen I, Bramness JG, Skurtveit S, Engeland A, Neutel I, Mørland J: Road traffic accident risk related to prescriptions of the hypnotics zopiclone, zolpidem, flunitrazepam and nitrazepam; *Sleep Med* 9:818; 2008.
- Han E, Kim E, Hong H, Jeong S, Kim J, In S, Chung H, Lee S: Evaluation of postmortem redistribution phenomena for commonly encountered drugs; *Forensic Sci Int* 219:265; 2012.
- Harrison L, Hughes A: The validity of self-reported drug use: improving the accuracy of survey estimates. NIDA Research Monograph no. 167; National Institute on Drug Abuse: Rockville, MD; 1997.
- 55. Haworth N, Vulcan P, Bowland L, Pronk N: *Estimation* of risk factors for fatal single vehicle crashes; Monash University Accident Research Centre: Victoria, Australia; 1997.
- 56. Hels T, Bernhoft IM, Lyckegaard A, Houwing S, Hagenzieker M, Legrand SA, Isalberti C, van der Linden T, Verstraete A: *Risk of injury by driving with alcohol and other drugs.* DRUID Deliverable D 2.3.5.; Technical University of Denmark: Copenhagen, Denmark; 2011; http://orbit.dtu. dk/fedora/objects/orbit:89488/datastreams/file\_6341143/ content (accessed February 12, 2015).
- 57. Hels T, Lyckegaard A, Simonsen KW, Steentoft A, Bernhoft IM: Risk of severe driver injury by driving with psychoactive substances; *Accident Anal Prev* 59:346; 2013.
- 58. Hemmelgarn B, Levesque LE, Suissa S: Anti-diabetic drug use and the risk of motor vehicle crash in the elderly; *Can J Clin Pharmacol* 13:e112; 2006.
- 59. Hou CC, Chen SC, Tan LB, Chu WY, Huang CM, Liu SY, Chen KT: Psychoactive substance use and the risk of motor vehicle crash injuries in southern Taiwan; *Prev Sci* 13:36;

2012.

- 60. Houwing S, Hagenzieker M, Mathijssen R, Bernhoft IM, Hels T, Janstrup K, van der Linden T, Legrand SA, Verstraete A: Prevalence of alcohol and other psychoactive substance in drivers in general traffic. Part I: General results. DRUID Deliverable D 2.2.3.; SWOV Institute for Road Safety Research: Leidschendam, The Netherlands; 2011; http:// library.swov.nl/action/front/fulltext?id=332878 (accessed February 12, 2015).
- 61. Houwing S, Hagenzieker M, Mathijssen RP, Legrand SA, Verstraete AG, Hels T, Bernhoft IM, Simonsen KW, Lillsunde P, Favretto D, Ferrara SD, Caplinskiene M, Movig KL, Brookhuis KA: Random and systematic errors in case-control studies calculating the injury risk of driving under the influence of psychoactive substances; *Accident Anal Prev* 52:144; 2013.
- 62. Houwing S, Mathijssen R, Brookhuis KA: Case-control studies; In Verster JC, Pandi-Perumal SR, Ramaekers JG, de Gier JJ (Ed): *Drugs, Driving and Traffic Safety*; Birkhäuser Verlag AG: Basel, Switzerland; pp 107–120; 2009.
- 63. Johnell K, Laflamme L, Möller J, Monarrez-Espino J: The role of marital status in the association between benzodiazepines, psychotropics and injurious road traffic crashes: a register-based nationwide study of senior drivers in Sweden; *PloS One* 9:e86742; 2014.
- 64. Johnson MB, Kelley-Baker T, Voas RB, Lacey JH: The prevalence of cannabis-involved driving in California; *Drug Alcohol Depend* 123:105; 2012.
- 65. Karjalainen K, Blencowe T, Lillsunde P: Substance use and social, health and safety-related factors among fatally injured drivers; *Accident Anal Prev* 45:731; 2012.
- Kuypers KP, Legrand SA, Ramaekers JG, Verstraete AG: A case-control study estimating accident risk for alcohol, medicines and illegal drugs; *PLoS One* 7:e43496; 2012.
- Lacey JH, Kelley-Baker T, Furr-Holden D, Brainard K, Moore C: *Pilot test of new roadside survey methodology for impaired driving (DOTHS 810 704);* National Highway Traffic Safety Administration: Washington, DC; 2007.
- Lacey JH, Kelley-Baker T, Furr-Holden D, Voas RB, Romano E, Ramirez A, Brainard K, Moore C, Torres P, Berning A: 2007 national roadside survey of alcohol and drug use by drivers - drug results (DOT HS 811 249); National Highway Safety Administration: Washington, DC; 2009.
- 69. Lai MM, Lin CC, Lin CC, Liu CS, Li TC, Kao CH: Longterm use of zolpidem increases the risk of major injury: a population-based cohort study; *Mayo Clin Proc* 89:589; 2014.
- Langel K, Gjerde H, Favretto D, Lillsunde P, Øiestad EL, Ferrara SD, Verstraete AG: Comparison of drug concentrations between whole blood and oral fluid; *Drug Test Anal* 6:461; 2014.
- 71. Laumon B, Gadegbeku B, Martin JL, Biecheler MB: Cannabis intoxication and fatal road crashes in France: population based case-control study; *Br Med J* 331:1371; 2005.
- 72. Legrand SA, Gjerde H, Isalberti C, van der Linden T, Lillsunde P, Dias MJ, Gustafsson S, Ceder G, Verstraete AG: Prevalence of alcohol, illicit drugs and psychoactive medicines in killed drivers in four European countries; *Int J Inj Contr Saf Promot* 21:17; 2014.
- 73. Legrand SA, Isalberti C, der Linden TV, Bernhoft IM, Hels T, Simonsen KW, Favretto D, Ferrara SD, Caplinskiene M,

Minkuviene Z, Pauliukevicius A, Houwing S, Mathijssen R, Lillsunde P, Langel K, Blencowe T, Verstraete AG: Alcohol and drugs in seriously injured drivers in six European countries; *Drug Test Anal* 5:156; 2013.

- 74. Li G, Brady JE, Chen Q: Drug use and fatal motor vehicle crashes: Acase-control study; *Accident Anal Prev* 60:205;2013.
- 75. Logan BK: Methamphetamine and driving impairment; *J Forensic Sci* 41:457; 1996.
- 76. Longo MC, Hunter CE, Lokan RJ, White JM, White MA: The prevalence of alcohol, cannabinoids, benzodiazepines and stimulants amongst injured drivers and their role in driver culpability: part ii: the relationship between drug prevalence and drug concentration, and driver culpability; *Accident Anal Prev* 32:623; 2000.
- Longo MC, Lokan RJ, White JM: The relationship between benzodiazepine concentration and vehicle crash culpability; *J Traffic Med* 29:36; 2001.
- Lowenstein SR, Koziol-McLain J: Drugs and traffic crash responsibility: a study of injured motorists in Colorado; J Trauma 50:313; 2001.
- Mann RE, Adlaf E, Zhao J, Stoduto G, Ialomiteanu A, Smart RG, Asbridge M: Cannabis use and self-reported collisions in a representative sample of adult drivers; *J Safety Res* 38:669; 2007.
- Mann RE, Stoduto G, Ialomiteanu A, Asbridge M, Smart RG, Wickens CM: Self-reported collision risk associated with cannabis use and driving after cannabis use among Ontario adults; *Traffic Inj Prev* 11:115; 2010.
- 81. Marquet P, Delpla PA, Kerguelen S, Bremond J, Facy F, Garnier M, Guery B, Lhermitte M, Mathe D, Pelissier AL, Renaudeau C, Vest P, Seguela JP: Prevalence of drugs of abuse in urine of drivers involved in road accidents in France: a collaborative study; *J Forensic Sci* 43:806; 1998.
- Mathijssen MPM, Houwing S: European Union Research Project IMMORTAL: The risk of drink and drug driving results of a case-control study conducted in the Netherlands; In: *Drugs and Traffic Transportation Research Circular E-C096*; Transportation Research Board: Washington, DC; pp 22–35; 2005.
- 83. McGwin G, Jr., Sims RV, Pulley L, Roseman JM: Relations among chronic medical conditions, medications, and automobile crashes in the elderly: a population-based case-control study; *Am J Epidemiol* 152:424; 2000.
- Meuleners LB, Duke J, Lee AH, Palamara P, Hildebrand J, Ng JQ: Psychoactive medications and crash involvement requiring hospitalization for older drivers: a populationbased study; *J Am Geriatr Soc* 59:1575; 2011.
- Miettinen OS: The "case-control" study: valid selection of subjects; *J Chronic Dis* 38:543; 1985.
- Moskowitz H: Commentary on variability among epidemiological studies of drugs and driving; In: *Drugs and Traffic: A Symposium Transportation Research Circular E-C096*; Transportation Research Board: Washington, DC; pp 36–40; 2005.
- 87. Movig KL, Mathijssen MP, Nagel PH, van Egmond T, de Gier JJ, Leufkens HG, Egberts AC: Psychoactive substance use and the risk of motor vehicle accidents; *Accident Anal Prev* 36:631; 2004.
- Mura P, Kintz P, Ludes B, Gaulier JM, Marquet P, Martin-Dupont S, Vincent F, Kaddour A, Goulle JP, Nouveau J, Moulsma M, Tilhet-Coartet S, Pourrat O: Comparison of the prevalence of alcohol, cannabis and other drugs

between 900 injured drivers and 900 control subjects: results of a French collaborative study; *Forensic Sci Int* 133:79; 2003.

- Musshoff F, Driever F, Lachenmeier K, Lachenmeier DW, Banger M, Madea B: Results of hair analyses for drugs of abuse and comparison with self-reports and urine tests; *Forensic Sci Int* 156:118; 2006.
- 90. Mørland J: Driving under the influence of non-alcohol drugs; *Forensic Sci Rev* 12:79; 2000.
- 91. Mørland J, Steentoft A, Simonsen KW, Ojanperä I, Vuori E, Magnusdottir K, Kristinsson J, Ceder G, Kronstrand R, Christophersen A: Drugs related to motor vehicle crashes in northern European countries: a study of fatally injured drivers; *Accident Anal Prev* 43:1920; 2011.
- 92. Neutel I: Benzodiazepine-related traffic accidents in young and elderly drivers; *Hum Psychopharmacol Clin Exp* 13:S115; 1998.
- 93. Orriols L, Foubert-Samier A, Gadegbeku B, Delorme B, Tricotel A, Philip P, Moore N, Lagarde E: Prescription of antiepileptics and the risk of road traffic crash; *J Clin Pharmacol* 53:339; 2013.
- 94. Orriols L, Philip P, Moore N, Castot A, Gadegbeku B, Delorme B, Mallaret M, Lagarde E: Benzodiazepine-like hypnotics and the associated risk of road traffic accidents; *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 89:595; 2011.
- 95. Orriols L, Queinec R, Philip P, Gadegbeku B, Delorme B, Moore N, Suissa S, Lagarde E: Risk of injurious road traffic crash after prescription of antidepressants; *J Clin Psychiatry* 73:1088; 2012.
- Orriols L, Wilchesky M, Lagarde E, Suissa S: Prescription of antidepressants and the risk of road traffic crash in the elderly: a case-crossover study; *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 76:810; 2013.
- 97. Perttula A, Pitkaniemi J, Heinonen OP, Finkle WD, Triche T, Jr., Gergov M, Vuori E: Second-generation antihistamines exhibit a protective effect on drivers in traffic-apreliminary population-based case-control study; *Traffic Inj Prev* 15:551; 2014.
- 98. Poulsen H, Moar R, Pirie R: The culpability of drivers killed in New Zealand road crashes and their use of alcohol and other drugs; *Accident Anal Prev* 67:119; 2014.
- 99. Pulido J, Barrio G, Lardelli P, Bravo MJ, Regidor E, de la Fuente L: Association between cannabis and cocaine use, traffic injuries and use of protective devices; *Eur J Public Health* 21:753; 2011.
- Rapoport MJ, Zagorski B, Seitz D, Herrmann N, Molnar F, Redelmeier DA: At-fault motor vehicle crash risk in elderly patients treated with antidepressants; *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 19:998; 2011.
- 101. Ravera S, van Rein N, de Gier JJ, de Jong-van den Berg LT: Road traffic accidents and psychotropic medication use in The Netherlands: a case-control study; *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 72:505; 2011.
- 102. Reguly P, Dubois S, Bedard M: Examining the impact of opioid analgesics on crash responsibility in truck drivers involved in fatal crashes; *Forensic Sci Int* 234:154; 2014.
- Robertson MD, Drummer OH: Responsibility analysis: a methodology to study the effects of drugs in driving; *Accident Anal Prev* 26:243; 1994.
- 104. Rodda KE, Drummer OH: The redistribution of selected psychiatric drugs in post-mortem cases; *Forensic Sci Int* 164:235; 2006.

- 105. Romano E, Pollini RA: Patterns of drug use in fatal crashes; *Addiction* 108:1428; 2013.
- 106. Romano E, Torres-Saavedra P, Voas RB, Lacey JH: Drugs and alcohol: their relative crash risk; *J Stud Alcohol Drugs* 75:56; 2014.
- 107. Sagberg F: Driver health and crash involvement: a casecontrol study; *Accident Anal Prev* 38:28; 2006.
- Salmi LR, Orriols L, Lagarde E: Comparing responsible and non-responsible drivers to assess determinants of road traffic collisions: time to standardise and revisit; *Inj Prev* 20:380; 2014.
- Samyn N, Verstraete A, van Haeren C, Kintz P: Analysis of drugs of abuse in saliva; *Forensic Sci Rev* 11:2; 1999.
- Skurtveit S, Strøm H, Skrivarhaug T, Mørland J, Bramness JG, Engeland A: Road traffic accident risk in patients with diabetes mellitus receiving blood glucose-lowering drugs. Prospective follow-up study; *Diabet Med* 26:404; 2009.
- 111. Soderstrom CA, Dischinger PC, Kufera JA, Ho SM, Shepard A: Crash culpability relative to age and sex for injured drivers using alcohol, marijuana or cocaine; *Annu Proc Assoc Adv Automot Med* 49:327; 2005.
- 112. Stoduto G, Mann RE, Ialomiteanu A, Wickens CM, Brands B: Examining the link between collision involvement and cocaine use; *Drug Alcohol Depend* 123:260; 2012.
- 113. Tourangeau R, Yan T: Sensitive questions in surveys; *Psychol Bull* 133:859; 2007.
- 114. van Elslande P, Fournier JY, Jaffard M. Influence of cannabis on fatal traffic crash: a detailed analysis. *Transp Res Rec* 2281:43; 2012.
- 115. Verstraete AG: Detection times of drugs of abuse in blood, urine, and oral fluid; *Ther Drug Monit* 26:200; 2004.
- 116. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gotzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP: The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies; *J Clin Epidemiol* 61:344; 2008.
- 117. Wadsworth EJ, Moss SC, Simpson SA, Smith AP: A community based investigation of the association between cannabis use, injuries and accidents; *J Psychopharmacol* 20:5; 2006.
- Walsh JM, Verstraete AG, Huestis MA, Mørland J: Guidelines for research on drugged driving; *Addiction* 103:1258; 2008.
- 119. Walter M, Hargutt V, Krüger HP: German Smartphone Survey Part II: Person-Related Characteristics of Drug Users and Drug Drivers Compared to Controls. DRUID Deliverable D 2.2.2.; University of Würzburg: Würzburg, Germany; 2012.
- 120. Wille SMR, Raes E, Lillsunde P, Gunnar T, Laloup M, Samyn N, Christophersen AS, Moeller MR, Hammer KP, Verstraete A: Relationship between oral fluid and blood concentrations of drugs of abuse in drivers suspected of DUID; *Ther Drug Monit* 31:511; 2009.
- 121. Woratanarat P, Ingsathit A, Suriyawongpaisal P, Rattanasiri S, Chatchaipun P, Wattayakorn K, Anukarahanonta T: Alcohol, illicit and non-illicit psychoactive drug use and road traffic injury in Thailand: a case-control study; *Accident Anal Prev* 41:651; 2009.
- 122. Yang YH, Lai JN, Lee CH, Wang JD, Chen PC: Increased risk of hospitalization related to motor vehicle accidents among people taking zolpidem: a case-crossover study; *J Epidemiol* 21:37; 2011.



Hallvard Gjerde obtained his M.Sc. degree in biochemistry from the University of Oslo (Oslo, Norway) in 1983 and a Ph.D. from the Faculty of Medicine of the same university in 1988. Since 2007, Dr. Gjerde has been a senior scientist in the Division of Forensic Sciences of the Norwegian Institute of Public Health (Oslo, Norway).

From 1983 to 1992, Dr. Gjerde was a researcher at the former National Institute of Forensic Toxicology (Oslo, Norway), and worked on pharmaceutical analysis from 1992 to 2007. He has published about 70 articles in peer-reviewed journals on drug analysis, forensic sciences, alcohol and drug use, and road traffic safety.

Maren Cecilie Strand received an M.D. degree from the VU University Amsterdam (Amsterdam, the Netherlands) in 2006. She is a medical specialist in clinical pharmacology and is working as a chief attending physician at the Division of Forensic Sciences of the Norwegian Institute of Public Health in Oslo. She is the president of the Norwegian Association of Clinical Pharmacology.

Jørg Mørland received an M.D. degree from the University of Oslo (Oslo, Norway) in 1967 and a Ph.D. degree in pharmacology from the same university in 1975. Dr. Mørland is now a senior scientist at the Division of Forensic Sciences of the Norwegian Institute of Public Health and a professor emeritus at the University of Oslo.

Dr. Mørland is a medical specialist in clinical pharmacology. He has served as professor of pharmacology at the University of Oslo and the University of Tromsø (Tromsø, Norway), director of the former National Institute of Forensic Toxicology, and director of the Division of Forensic Medicine and Drug Abuse Research of the Norwegian Institute of Public Health until 2012. His main research field is biomedical effects of alcohol and drugs of abuse, their metabolites and metabolism. He has published more than 350 articles in peer-reviewed journals on pharmacology, toxicology, forensic sciences, neuroscience, alcoholism, epidemiology, drug analysis, and road traffic safety.